
Vestavia Hills 
City Council Agenda 

April 22, 2019 
6:00 PM 

1. Call to Order              
2. Roll Call 
3. Invocation – Marlon Ellington, Vestavia Hills Chaplain 
4. Pledge Of Allegiance  
5. Announcements and Guest Recognition 
6. Proclamation – National Get On Board Day – April 25, 2019 
7. City Manager’s Report 
8. Councilors’ Reports 
9. Approval of Minutes – April 8, 2019 (Regular Meeting) 

Old Business 

10. Ordinance Number 2840 – Conditional Use Approval – 1506-1514 Montgomery Highway; 
Royal Automotive; Conditional Use Approval To Allow Lamar Advertising To Dismantle 
Twelve Billboard Faces On Six Free Standing Structures Within The City Limit Of The 
City Of Vestavia Hills And Allow The Erection And Operation Of An Free Standing 
Billboard Structure With Two Faces – One Face Reading To I-65 And The Other Reading 
To Montgomery Highway  (public hearing)  

11. Ordinance Number 2838 – Conditional Use Approval – 3788 Crosshaven Drive; Lot 5 And 
The N 20’ Of Lot 4, Block 1, Glass’ 3rd Add To New Merkle; Conditional Use For 
Beekeeping; Installation And Maintenance Of Four (4) Beehives; St. Stephens Episcopal 
Church    (public hearing) 

12. Ordinance Number 2839 – Conditional Use Approval – 1476 Montgomery Highway; 
Conditional Use Approval For The Purpose Of Automotive Sales, Automotive Services – 
Major And Minor, Including But Not Limited To Mechanical And Collision Repair; Serra 
Automotive   (public hearing)  

13. Ordinance Number 2835 – Rezoning – 3984 And 3988 Nachez Drive; Lots 2 & 3, Block 
1, Hermitage Forest 1st Sector; Rezone From Vestavia Hills R-4 To Vestavia Hills R-9; 
Arthur Powell, Owner  (public hearing)   

14. Ordinance Number 2836 – Rezoning – 3785 Glass Drive; Lot 29, Glass’ 3rd Add To New 
Merkle; Rezoning From Vestavia Hills R-4 To Vestavia Hills R-9; Tucker And Company, 
LLC    (public hearing) 



15. Ordinance Number 2837 – Rezoning – 3784 Poe Drive; Lot 8, Block 3, Glass’ 3rd Add To 

New Merkle; Rezoning From Vestavia Hills R-4 To Vestavia Hills R-9; Jonathan B. Culver    

(public hearing) 

16. Ordinance Number 2841 - An Ordinance Amending Section 5 Of Ordinance Number 2427 

And Section 10-14(E), Vestavia Hills Code Of Ordinances, Rep. 2013 Entitled 

“Educational Programs”    (public hearing) 

17. Ordinance Number 2842 – Annexation – Overnight – Magnolia Cove Subdivision; Lots 1 

through 13; Chase Beard, et al, Owners   (public hearing) 

New Business 

18. Resolution Number 5152 - A Resolution appointing a member to the Vestavia Hills Board 

of Education   

19. Resolution Number 5153 - Alcohol License – Tazikis Mediterranean Café; 1425 

Montgomery Highway, Suite 199; John Michael Bodnar, James Matthew Bodnar, Gerald 

Edison Rushton, Jr., Executives   (public hearing) 

20. Resolution Number 5154 – A Resolution of the Mayor and City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills In Opposition To Proposed Senate Bill 264 Regarding Small Cell 

Technology 

21. Resolution Number 5155 – A Resolution Changing The City Officials Designated And 

Authorized To Sign Checks And Drafts For Payments From City Of Vestavia Hills 

Accounts On Deposit In The Regions For The Court Bond Account 

22. Resolution Number 5156 – A Resolution Renaming The Street Magnolia Cove To 

Magnolia Cove Road 

23. Ordinance Number 2844 – Annual Jefferson County Tax Levy 

24. Ordinance Number 2845 – Annual Shelby County Tax Levy 

New Business (Requesting Unanimous Consent) 

First Reading (No Action To Be Taken At This Meeting) 

25. Ordinance Number 2846 – An Ordinance Changing Polling Places In The City From The 

Cahaba Heights Senior Center To The Cahaba Heights Baptist Church   (public hearing) 

26. Citizen Comments      

27. Motion For Adjournment 



 
WHEREAS, the Birmingham-Jefferson County Transit Authority is a public entity established 

by the Alabama Legislature to provide mass public transportation in Jefferson 
County, Alabama; and   

 
WHEREAS, April 25th, 2019 marks “National Get On Board Day” as a day that encourages 

people to ride public transportation to save money, protect the environment, and 
improve the quality of life for all Americans; and   

 
WHEREAS,  free rides will be offered to all customers on April 25, 2019 in celebration of 

“National Get On Board Day”; and 
 
WHEREAS, public transportation is a $71 billion industry that directly employs 420,000 

people and supports millions of private sector jobs; and 
 
WHEREAS  for every $1 invested in public transportation, $4 is generated in economic returns; 

and  
 
WHEREAS 87 percent of public transit trips directly impact the economy by connecting 

people to jobs or retail and entertainment venues; and  
 
WHEREAS,  Alabama declares that public transportation helps people save money, helps the 

environment, and improves America’s quality of life; and 
 
WHEREAS where public transportation goes, communities grow and prosper. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Ashley C. Curry, by virtue of the authority vested in me as Mayor of the 

City of Vestavia Hills in the State of Alabama, do hereby join with the 
Birmingham-Jefferson County Transit Authority and proclaim April 25, 2019 as  

 
     NATIONAL GET ON BOARD DAY 

 
in Vestavia Hills and encourage all residents to support public transportation on 
April 25th  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have 
hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal 
of the City of Vestavia Hills to be affixed 
this the 16th day of April 2019. 
 
__________________________________
_______ 
Ashley C. Curry 
Mayor 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
April 8, 2019 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

APRIL 8, 2019 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in regular session on this date at 6:00 PM, 
following publication and posting pursuant to Alabama law.  Mayor Curry called the meeting to 
order and the City Clerk called the roll with the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:    Mayor Ashley C. Curry  

Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 
      Kimberly Cook, Councilor  

Paul Head, Councilor 
      George Pierce, Councilor 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager 
      Patrick H. Boone, City Attorney 
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      George Sawaya, Asst. Finance Director 
      Dan Rary, Police Chief 
      Marvin Green, Fire Chief 
      Brian Davis, Public Services Director 
      Christopher Brady, City Engineer 
      Cinnamon McCulley, Communications Specialist 
 

Steve Dedmon, Vestavia Hills Chaplain, led the invocation followed by the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS, GUEST RECOGNITION  
 

 Mrs. Cook recognized Steve Ammons, Jefferson County Commissioner. 
 Mrs. Cook stated that Board of Education will meet on April 29 beginning at 4 PM. 
 Mrs. Cook announced that the following individuals have applied for the upcoming 

vacancy on the Vestavia Hills Board of Education:  Todd Bailey, Scott Brown, Jaclyn 
Hudson, Corey Milner, French McMillan, Tealla Stewart, Brian Demarco, Jeffrey Florio 
and Steven Shepherd. 

 Mrs. Cook stated that the City Council will begin interviewing the applicants at 8 AM on 
April 10 and continue beginning at 8 AM on April 16. 

 Mr. Pierce recognized Chamber members Sandra Cleveland and Roger Steur. 
 The Mayor thanked everyone involved in organizing the Opioid Awareness breakfast 

including Tom Dooley, the speaker for the event.  He stated that they will continue 



City Council Minutes 
April 8, 2019 

Page 2 
 

organizing these events, but that they may change the format.  He reminded everyone that 
the purpose of these are to raise awareness of opioid addiction, within the city, working 
in collaboration with Chief Rary to assist anyone in need. 

 Mr. Head recognized Park Board member, Mitch Bevill, as well as Anne Smyth, 
immediate past President of the Park Board. 

 
 

PROCLAMATION – DAY OF PRAYER – APRIL 23, 2019 
 
 The Mayor presented a proclamation designating April 23, 2019, as A Day of Prayer.  Mr. 
Downes read the proclamation and the Mayor presented it to Chamber President Karen Odle and 
other Chamber members Scott Perry, Gary Jordan, Sandra Cleveland and Roger Steur.  Mrs. Odle 
stated that the 29th Annual Mayor’s Prayer Breakfast with Micah McElveen as the guest speaker 
from Vapor Ministries will be held on April 23, 2019, beginning at 7 AM.  She stated he has a 
compelling story and that the event is currently sold out, but there is a waiting list in case some 
tickets come back into the office. 
 
 

PROCLAMATION – NATIONAL VOLUNTEER RECOGNITION WEEK –  
APRIL 7-13, 2019 

 
 The Mayor presented a proclamation designating April 7-13, 2019, as National Volunteer 
Recognition Week.  Mr. Downes read the proclamation and the Mayor presented it to Melanie 
Perry, Gary and Tina Chaffin, Kim Smith, Anne Smyth, Anne Boston, Mitch Bevill, Rudy and 
Joyce Duda. 
 
 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

 Mr. Downes highlighted two specific projects: 
o The Cahaba Heights baseball fields will be the first project from the Community 

Spaces Plan to make its way to bid.  Presentation of construction plans will be 
forthcoming as the bids are finalized.  Ken Upchurch will be at the work session 
next Monday to present the final concept.  Wald Park and the Community building 
will follow this project. 

o The plans for widening of Crosshaven are about 90 percent complete.  Letters have 
gone out to adjacent property owners and negotiations will begin on the additional 
right-of-way.  Later eminent domain will follow if negotiations fail.  Mrs. Cook 
asked about the progress of right-of-way valuations and negotiations.  Mr. Downes 
explained they are about 50% completed on the City side. 

 The Liberty Park pedestrian tunnel was bid last year with bids coming back far greater 
than estimates because of a relocation of a water main.  He stated they are working with 
the Birmingham Water Works Board on that main relocation to see if the cost can be 
reduced or whether additional grant dollars may be allocated to the project.  They are 
continuing to work on this project.  Mrs. Cook questioned the difference and Mr. Downes 



City Council Minutes 
April 8, 2019 

Page 3 
 

stated it was $300,000, but the water main relocation was most of it and there might have 
been some miscommunication related to that relocation. 

 Mr. Downes gave an update on the paving around the central part of the City.  He stated 
that they are probably about 65% complete.  The weather has not cooperated but he hopes, 
as rain begins to diminish, more progress can be made. 

 
Mrs. Joyce Duda, 2607 Millbrook Lane, asked about notification to property owners of 

condemnation.  She asked what the timeframe is between sending the letter of notification to 
owners and official action and how the City determines the property owner addresses. 

 
Mr. Downes stated that the City has retained an attorney, Martin Evans, to oversee the 

condemnation process and he relies upon that outside counsel to ensure that the notices are done 
correctly.  He stated he relies on the attorneys to ensure it is done according to law. 

 
Mr. Boone explained the process the attorney would follow in order to ascertain the owner 

of the various properties and how to address the notifications.  Discussion ensued. 
 
Mr. Downes gave Mrs. Duda his contact information and asked her to contact him later 

so he can obtain the information she requested. 
 
 

COUNCILOR REPORTS 
 

 Mrs. Cook stated that last week she went to Montgomery to join with the Help the Hills 
Coalition to urge passage of HB41.  She explained that this legislation will regulate 
vaping, similar to tobacco.  She stated that the state House of Representatives passed it 
unanimously and they hope to push this on through the legislature before the end of the 
session. 

 Mr. Pierce stated he would be attending the Chamber luncheon tomorrow at the Vestavia 
Country Club. 

 Mr. Weaver announced the regular Planning and Zoning Commission meeting to be held 
on Thursday beginning at 6 PM. 

 
 

FINANCIAL REPORTS 
 
 Mr. Sawaya presented the financial reports for month ending February 2019.  He read and 
explained the balances. 
 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 The minutes of the following meeting were presented for approval:  March 11, 2019 
(regular meeting), March 18, 2019 (work session) and March 18, 2019 (regular meeting). 
 



City Council Minutes 
April 8, 2019 

Page 4 
 

MOTION Motion to dispense with the reading of the minutes of the March 11, 2019 (regular 
meeting) and approve them as presented was by Mr. Weaver and second by Mrs. 
Cook.    Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
MOTION Motion to dispense with the reading of the minutes of the March 18, 2019 (work 

session) and approve them as presented was by Mr. Weaver and second by Mrs. 
Cook.    Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – abstain   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
MOTION Motion to dispense with the reading of the minutes of the March 18, 2019 (regular 

meeting) and approve them as presented was by Mr. Weaver and second by Mr. 
Head.     Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – abstain   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT MEETING – PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE 
 
 Mr. Downes introduced Blair Perry, Leslie Corlett and Kent Marshall from Gresham 
Smith and Partners, who are acting as the team leaders on this project.  He stated ALDOT requires 
a public involvement meeting in order to fund this project. 
 
 Blair Perry, Gresham Smith and Partners, presented a PowerPoint and explained the 
pedestrian bridge project, which will be located on Montgomery Highway.  He stated that this 
project has been planned for several years along with securing funding from various sources.  He 
showed renderings of the proposed structure and explained the planned details.  He stated that the 
City has secured 80% funding and, because of the federal funding, the project has to be evaluated 
for adverse impacts to the environment and its surroundings.  He stated that they have found no 
environmental impact caused by the construction of this project.  He explained the purpose of the 
public involvement meeting and encouraged everyone to fill out a comment form.  He stated that 
they will be evaluated and, if possible, incorporated into the project.   
 
 Mr. Perry explained the purpose and need for the bridge. The bridge will tie into existing 
sidewalk systems on both sides of the highway.  He described the compliance with all 
governmental standards including, but not limited to ADA accessibility.  He mentioned the design 
includes a large-size elevator that would accommodate multiple bicycles and a metal channel that 
would run down the stairs to allow cyclists to easily walk their bikes down the stairs. In closing, 
he invited everyone to view the exhibits located in the hallway, where he will be available to 
answer questions and receive comment forms. 
 



City Council Minutes 
April 8, 2019 

Page 5 
 

 Mrs. Cook asked about the possible addition of colored, decorative lighting. 
 
 Mr. Perry stated that various lighting alternatives will likely be in the bid package. 
 
 Mrs. Cook asked about signage or some type of graphics to bring in the City’s branding.  
Mr. Perry said this will be explored. 
 
 Danielle Davis, 1214 Vestavia Place, asked about the security of the bridge, including 
monitoring, especially during school hours. 
 
 Chief Rary stated the bridge has built-in security to prevent items being thrown from the 
bridge. 
 
 Mr. Perry explained that they are providing conduits into the design for eventual 
installation of cameras. 
 
 The Mayor stated that the Council is excited to see this progress, as the project has been 
in the works for more than 20 years.  He stated he will be excited if this can move forward. 
 
 Mr. Pierce stated that one advantage to taking this long is that there is some great lighting 
packages available there weren’t in existence back years ago. 
 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5148 
 

A Resolution Amending Resolution Number 5073 Dedicating Certain Streets In Liberty 
Park To The City Of Vestavia Hills, Alabama Pursuant To An Agreement 
For Maintenance And Repair   (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5148 was by Mr. Pierce seconded by Mr. 

Weaver. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated that the Council recently accepted dedication of certain roadways in 
Liberty Park including Liberty Parkway and a large portion of Lake Parkway from the roundabout 
back to Old Overton back gate location.  This resolution will accept the dedication of Lake 
Parkway to Vestlake Ridge Drive as well as Urban Center Parkway.  He stated that the drainage 
infrastructure was inspected and Schoel Engineering did the legal descriptions.  He stated that 
these are subject to the same maintenance agreement which was put into place during the original 
acceptance of streets. 
 
 Joey Breightner, Schoel Engineering, was present in regard to this request. 
 
 Mrs. Cook asked about the boundaries of the dedicated part of Lake Parkway. 
 



City Council Minutes 
April 8, 2019 

Page 6 
 

 Mr. Downes stated that the dedication includes all of Lake Parkway until it ends at 
Vestlake Ridge Drive. 
 
 Mrs. Cook stated that golf carts are not allowed on public roads.  She asked about the 
maintenance agreement and whether it would include this additional right-of-away.  Mr. Downes 
stated that it would. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one further to address 
the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2833 
 

Ordinance Number 2833 – Rezoning – 4557 Pine Tree Circle; Lot 14, Topfield Subdivision; 
Rezoning From Vestavia Hills B-1 (Neighborhood Business District) To 
Vestavia Hills B-1 (Neighborhood Business District) With A Revised Site Plan 
(public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2833 was by Mr. Weaver, seconded by Mr. 

Pierce. 
 
 Mr. Weaver stated that the commission unanimously recommended this request for 
rezoning.  He stated this was originally rezoned and is being revisited because of the change in 
the site plan. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.   
 
 Jeff Roe, representing the owners of 4561 Pine Tree Circle—property adjacent to this 
request--stated they were confused by the process of this and initially met with the City Planning 
Commission and are now coming to City Council.  He stated it was his understanding that the 
Commission found the plans to be lacking in detail.  He asked questions about the conditions of 
the zoning and whether all concerns had been addressed. 
 
 Discussion ensued and Mr. Weaver explained that the Commission had added conditions 
to assist with the concerns discussed at the meeting.   
 
 Wesley Cline was present in regard to the request. 
 
 There being no one further to address the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing 
and called for the question. 



City Council Minutes 
April 8, 2019 

Page 7 
 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

NEW BUSINESS  
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2843 
 

Ordinance Number 2843 – An Ordinance Authorizing The Mayor And City Manager To 
Execute And Deliver An Agreement With New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC 
For Location Of A Multi-Carrier Stealth Pole At The Sicard Hollow Athletic 
Complex Subject To Conditional Use Approval 

 
 Mr. Downes stated that AT&T approached the City regarding the need for better cellular 
reception within the Liberty Park area.  The proposal would be to replace a light pole at the Sicard 
Hollow Athletic Complex with a stealth tower.  He indicated that a conditional use would have 
to be requested by AT&T and obtained before this would be allowed on the property.  If they are 
successful obtaining the Conditional Use, then the lease would be executed and the tower would 
be installed pursuant to the terms and conditions of this lease agreement. 
 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2843 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by Mr. 

Head. 
 
 There being no one further to address the Council, the Mayor called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5150 
 

Resolution Number 5150 – A Resolution Approving A 140-Special Events Retail License 
For On-Premise Sale Of Alcohol For The 5th Annual Crawfish Boil Event To 
Be Held At 2531 Rocky Ridge Road, Suite 107; Jacquelins, Inc., Applicant; 
Maria Esperanza Adan, Executive  (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5150 was by Mr. Weaver, seconded by Mr. 

Pierce. 
 
 The general manager of the restaurant explained the request for this annual event.  He 
stated that this is their fifth time holding this event.  He described how they handle the event.   
 
 Mr. Pierce asked about controls that keeps minors from drinking.  The manager explained 
their policies to ensure no minor is served. 
 



City Council Minutes 
April 8, 2019 

Page 8 
 

 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one further to address 
the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5151 
 

Resolution Number 5151 – A Resolution In Support Of House Bill Number 41, Introduced 
In The 2019 Regular Session Of The Alabama Legislature, To Discourage 
Teen Vaping 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5151 was by Mrs. Cook, seconded by Mr. 

Weaver. 
 
 Mrs. Cook stated that she has been working with the Help the Hills Coalition to address 
the issue of vaping, as a concerned parent. She stated that the sale of vaping supplies are not 
regulated in the State of Alabama and that she understands sales to minors are occurring within 
our City.  She stated that more than 30% of Vestavia High School seniors admitted to using a 
nicotine product in last year’s PRIDE survey. 
 
 There being no one further to address the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing 
and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

NEW BUSINESS (UNANIMOUS CONSENT REQUESTED) 
 
 
FIRST READING (NO ACTION TO BE TAKEN AT THIS MEETING)  
 
 The Mayor stated that the following resolutions and/or ordinances will be presented at a 
public hearing at the Council’s next regular meeting on April 22, 2019, at 6:00 PM. 

 Ordinance Number 2840 – Conditional Use Approval – 1506-1514 Montgomery 
Highway; Royal Automotive; Conditional Use Approval To Allow Lamar Advertising 
To Dismantle Twelve Billboard Faces On Six Free Standing Structures Within The City 
Limit Of The City Of Vestavia Hills And Allow The Erection And Operation Of An Free 
Standing Billboard Structure With Two Faces – One Face Reading To I-65 And The 
Other Reading To Montgomery Highway  (public hearing)  

 Ordinance Number 2838 – Conditional Use Approval – 3788 Crosshaven Drive; Lot 5 
And The N 20’ Of Lot 4, Block 1, Glass’ 3rd Add To New Merkel; Conditional Use For 



City Council Minutes 
April 8, 2019 

Page 9 
 

Beekeeping; Installation And Maintenance Of Four (4) Beehives; St. Stephens Episcopal 
Church    (public hearing) 

 Ordinance Number 2839 – Conditional Use Approval – 1476 Montgomery Highway; 
Conditional Use Approval For The Purpose Of Automotive Sales, Automotive Services 
– Major And Minor, Including But Not Limited To Mechanical And Collision Repair; 
Serra Automotive   (public hearing)  

 Ordinance Number 2835 – Rezoning – 3984 And 3988 Natchez Drive; Lots 2 & 3, Block 
1, Hermitage Forest 1st Sector; Rezone From Vestavia Hills R-4 To Vestavia Hills R-9; 
Arthur Powell, Owner  (public hearing)   

 Ordinance Number 2836 – Rezoning – 3785 Glass Drive; Lot 29, Glass’ 3rd Add To New 
Merkel; Rezoning From Vestavia Hills R-4 To Vestavia Hills R-9; Tucker And Company, 
LLC    (public hearing) 

 Ordinance Number 2837 – Rezoning – 3784 Poe Drive; Lot 8, Block 3, Glass’ 3rd Add 
To New Merkel; Rezoning From Vestavia Hills R-4 To Vestavia Hills R-9; Jonathan B. 
Culver    (public hearing) 

 Ordinance Number 2841 - An Ordinance Amending Section 5 Of Ordinance Number 
2427 And Section 10-14(E), Vestavia Hills Code Of Ordinances, Rep. 2013 Entitled 
“Educational Programs”    (public hearing) 

 Ordinance Number 2842 – Annexation – Overnight – Magnolia Cove Subdivision; Lots 
1 through 13; Chase Beard, et al, Owners 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
 Carter DeWees, a student member of City Youth Connection, thanked the Mayor for his 
work and efforts in bringing awareness of opioid addiction and rehabilitation to the forefront. 
 
 At 7:25 PM, Mr. Weaver made a motion to adjourn.  The meeting adjourned at 7:26 PM. 
 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Ordinance Number 2840 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2840 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING CONDITIONAL USE APPROVAL 
ON THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1506-1514 MONTGOMERY 
HIGHWAY; ROYAL AUTOMOTIVE, OWNERS; CONDITIONAL 
USE APPROVAL TO ALLOW LAMAR ADVERTISING TO 
DISMANTLE TWELVE BILLBOARD FACES ON SIX FREE 
STANDING STRUCTURES WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF THE 
CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS AND ALLOW THE ERECTION AND 
OPERATION OF AN FREE STANDING BILLBOARD 
STRUCTURE WITH TWO ELECTRONIC DIGITAL FACES – ONE 
FACE READING TO I-65 AND THE OTHER READING TO 
MONTGOMERY HIGHWAY 

 
 WHEREAS, on December 13, 2010, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted and approved Ordinance Number 2331, also known as the City of 

Vestavia Hills Zoning Code; and 

 WHEREAS, Gregory L. Belcher, Royal Automotive, Inc., are owners of the 

property located at 1506-1514 Montgomery Highway zoned Vestavia Hills B-3 (business 

district); and 

 WHEREAS, Royal Automotive, Inc., has offered to lease to Lamar Advertising an 

area of the above referenced property for erection of a billboard for a period of ten years; 

and 

 WHEREAS, Tom Traylor, Lamar Advertising, presented an application for 

Conditional Use approval for the purpose of erecting a new freestanding billboard structure 

upon the property located at 1506-1514 Montgomery Highway for the purpose of digital 

advertising; and 

 WHEREAS, Lamar Advertising has indicated that said Conditional Use approval 

shall be conditioned upon the dismantling and permanent removal of twelve existing 

billboard faces on six freestanding structures located in other areas within the City; and 

 WHEREAS, a copy of the application for Conditional Use approval by Lamar 

Advertising detailing the locations of the structures to be removed, the existing structures 

to remain within the City and information concerning the new freestanding structure to be 

constructed is marked as Exhibit A, attached to and incorporated into this Ordinance 

Number 2840 as though written fully therein. 



Ordinance Number 2840 
Page 2 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. Conditional Use Approval is hereby granted for Lamar Advertising to dismantle 

and permanently remove twelve billboard faces on six existing billboard 

structures located in various areas of the City as detailed in the attached Exhibit 

A and, upon doing so, to construct and operate a single billboard structure with 

two digital faces – one face to read to I-65 northbound traffic and the other to 

read to Montgomery Highway south bound traffic; and 

2. Conditional Use approval for the new structure shall be considered null and 

void if, for any reason, the dismantle and permanent removal of the structures 

to be removed and construction of the new structure are not substantially 

completed within 12 months of the effective date of this Ordinance Number 

2840; and 

3. Should the new structure cease to exist or operate on the property for a period 

of twelve (12) consecutive months, said use shall be considered null and void 

and said structure shall be immediately removed; and 

4. This Ordinance Number 2840 shall become effective immediately upon 

adoption, approval and publishing/posting pursuant to Alabama law; and 

DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 22nd day of April, 

2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2840 
Page 3 

 

 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2840 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 22nd day of April, 2019 as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Library in the Forest, Vestavia 
Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of 
______________, 2019. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2840 
Page 4 

 

 



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



E
xhibit A

 - O
rdinance N

o. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



E
xhibit A

 - O
rdinance N

o. 2840



E
xhibit A

 - O
rdinance N

o. 2840



E
xhibit A

 - O
rdinance N

o. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



E
xhibit A

 - O
rdinance N

o. 2840



E
xhibit A

 - O
rdinance N

o. 2840



E
xhibit A

 - O
rdinance N

o. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



E
xh

ib
it 

A
 - 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o.
 2

84
0



E
xh

ib
it 

A
 - 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o.
 2

84
0



E
xh

ib
it 

A
 - 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o.
 2

84
0



E
xh

ib
it 

A
 - 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o.
 2

84
0



E
xh

ib
it 

A
 - 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o.
 2

84
0



E
xh

ib
it 

A
 - 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o.
 2

84
0



E
xhibit A

 - O
rdinance N

o. 2840



E
xhibit A

 - O
rdinance N

o. 2840



E
xhibit A

 - O
rdinance N

o. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Ordinance Number 2838 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2838 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A CONDITIONAL USE 
APPROVAL TO ALLOW OUTDOOR RECREATION AND 
PHYSICAL TRAINING 

 
 WHEREAS, on December 13, 2010 the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama approved and adopted Ordinance Number 2331 entitled the Vestavia Hills Zoning 

Code and establishing a conditional use approval for certain uses not permissible by right 

in zoning classifications; and 

 WHEREAS, on April 21, 2003, the City Council adopted and approved Ordinance 

Number 1983 to rezone the property located at 3788 Crosshaven Drive from Jefferson 

County R-3 (medium density residential) to Vestavia Hills R-4 (medium density residential 

district); and 

 WHEREAS, the property located at 3788 Crosshaven Drive; Lot 5 and the N 20’ 

of Lot 4, Block 1, Glass’ 3rd Add to New Merkle, is vacant and presently zoned Vestavia 

Hills R-4 (medium density residential district); and 

WHEREAS, on February 6, 2019, Christopher Williams on behalf of St. Stephen’s 

Episcopal Church, submitted an application to allow beekeeping with four (4) beehives to 

be placed on the property located at 3788 Crosshaven Drive; and 

 WHEREAS, Table 6 of the Vestavia Hills Zoning Code sets forth the permissible 

uses within a R-4 classification; and 

 WHEREAS, a copy of said application dated February 6, 2019 is attached and 

hereby incorporated into this Ordinance Number 2838; and 

WHEREAS, the Vestavia Hills Planning and Zoning Commission considered said 

application at their regular meeting of March 14, 2019 and recommended approval with 

the following conditions:  (1) Installation of no more than four (4) beehives as described in 

the attached application; (2) installation and maintenance of a minimum 6’ high privacy 

fence. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 



Ordinance Number 2838 
Page 2 

 

a) Installation of no more than four (4) beehives as described in the 

attached application; 

b) Installation and maintenance of a minimum 6’ high privacy fence; and 

c) Beehives shall be registered and inspected by the State of Alabama 

pursuant to Alabama law; and  

d) Any changes to location of said beehives shall be reviewed and 

approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission;   

e) This conditional use approval is location specific and if the beekeeping 

use ceases on the premises for a period of 12 months, said conditional 

use shall be considered null and void. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 22nd day of April, 2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2838 
Page 3 

 

 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as Acting City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 
hereby certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2838 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 22nd of April, 2019 as same appears in the official records of said 
City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of 
______________, 2019. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2838 
Page 4 

 

 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2838



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2838



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2838



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2838



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2838



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2838



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2838



1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     MARCH 14, 2019

CASE: P-0319-07

REQUESTED ACTION: Conditional Use Approval For An Installation Of Four
Beehives Surrounded by a Six Foot High Fence. 

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 3788 Crosshaven Drive

APPLICANT/OWNER: St. Stephen’s Episcopal Church

GENERAL DISCUSSION: The applicant seeks to install a beehive on a vacant lot 
across from the main church building. The hives will be registered with the Alabama 
Department of Agriculture and will be maintained in compliance with Alabama Code. 
A 6’ fence will surround the hives. The nearest living space is 200 feet away from the 
proposed property and is surrounded on three sides by properties owned by the 
church, and on the west side by the creek and a vacant lot. A site plan is attached. The
property is currently zoned R-4.

CAHABA HEIGHTS COMMUNITY PLAN: The request is consistent with the 
Community Plan and gardens are a permitted use within the zoning. 

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request.

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2838



2

MOTION Mr. Gilchrist made a motion to recommend Conditional Use Approval For An 
Installation Of Four Beehives Surrounded by a Six Foot High Fence for The Property Located
At 3788 Crosshaven Drive. Second was by Mr. Weaver. Motion was carried on a roll call; vote 
as follows:

Mr. Goodwin – yes Mr. Sykes – yes
Mr. Romeo – yes Mr. Gilchrist – yes
Mr. Weaver– yes Ms. Cobb – yes 
Mr. House – yes Mrs. Barnes – yes
Motion carried.

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2838



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2838



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2838



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2838



Ordinance Number 2839 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2839 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING CONDITIONAL USE APPROVAL 
FOR AUTOMOTIVE SALES, AUTOMOTIVE SERVICES – MAJOR 
AND MINOR, INCLUDING MECHANICAL AND COLLISION 
REPAIR FOR 1476 MONTGOMERY HIGHWAY 

 
 WHEREAS, on December 13, 2010, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted and approved Ordinance Number 2331, also known as the City of 

Vestavia Hills Zoning Code; and 

 WHEREAS, Anthony F. and Margaret Serra are owners of the property located at 

1476 Montgomery Highway zoned Vestavia Hills B-3 (business district); and 

 WHEREAS, Alton B. Parker Jr., Spain & Gillon, LLC, attorney for the Serras, 

presented an application for Conditional Use approval for the purpose of automotive sales, 

automotive services – major and minor, including, but not limited to, mechanical and 

collision repair for the property located at 1476 Montgomery Highway pursuant to Table 

6 of the Vestavia Hills Zoning Code; and 

 WHEREAS, Mr. and Mrs. Serra, owners of the property located at 1476 

Montgomery Highway, were desirous of opening a new or used automotive dealership with 

complete automotive servicing and repair on said property; and 

 WHEREAS, on November 14, 2011, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills 

adopted and approved Ordinance Number 2373 to grant said Conditional Use for the 

property located at 1476 Montgomery Highway as requested; and 

 WHEREAS, on or about April 7, 2014, the dealership suffered severe flooding of 

Patton Creek which caused significant damage to the premises; and 

 WHEREAS, Section 13.3.3 of the Vestavia Hills Zoning Code provides that 

“When such use is abandoned or discontinued for a period of one (1) year, it shall not be 

reestablished unless authorized by the Council;” and 

 WHEREAS, Alton Parker, Spain and Gillon, LLC, attorney for the owners, 

submitted a letter dated March 3, 2015; and 

WHEREAS, on March 23, 2015, the Vestavia Hills City Council adopted and 

approved Ordinance Number 2373-A granting an 18-month extension for said dealership; 

a copy of which is marked as “Exhibit A” attached to and incorporated into this Ordinance 



Ordinance Number 2839 
Page 2 

 

Number 2373-B as though written fully therein, requesting an additional 18-month 

extension to said Conditional Use; and 

WHEREAS, on December 28, 2016, the City Council adopted and approved 

Ordinance Number 2373-B approving an additional 18-month extension on said uses of 

Automotive Sales, Automotive Services – Major and Minor, including Mechanical and 

Collision Repair beginning October 15, 2016; and 

WHEREAS, on January 17, 2019, following remedial steps to enhance and extend 

the flood elevations of the property, Alton B. Parker Jr., on behalf of Serra Automotive 

submitted a request for Conditional Use Approval for automotive sales, automotive service 

– major and minor, including mechanical and collision repair for the property located at 

1476 Montgomery Highway. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. Conditional Use Approval is hereby granted for automotive sales, automotive 

services – major and minor, including, but not limited to, mechanical and 

collision repair for property located at 1476 Montgomery Highway for an 18-

month period beginning April 22, 2019 and ending at midnight, April 21, 2020; 

and 

2. Should said Conditional Use fail to operate on the property within the time 

period listed in Section 1 or should Conditional Use cease to exist on the 

property for a period of twelve (12) consecutive months, said use shall be 

considered null and void; and 

3. This Ordinance Number 2839 shall become effective immediately upon 

adoption, approval and publishing/posting pursuant to Alabama law; and 

DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 22nd day of April, 

2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
 



Ordinance Number 2839 
Page 3 

 

 
 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2839 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 22nd day of April, 2019 as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Library in the Forest, Vestavia 
Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of 
______________, 2019. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2839 
Page 4 

 

 











1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     MARCH 14, 2019

CASE: P-1011-22 A

REQUESTED ACTION Conditional Use Approval For The Intended Purpose Of 
Automotive Sales, Automotive Services – Major & Minor, Including Mechanical & 
Collision Repair. 

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 1476 Montgomery Highway

APPLICANT/OWNER: Anthony F. & Margaret Serra

GENERAL DISCUSSION: The applicants seek an extension of a Conditional Use 
for an automotive sales, and services dealership. This property has been granted a 
Conditional Use in the past through Ordinance 2373, approved in November 2011. In 
2014 there was a flood that damaged the property, which made the property unusable. 
Over next couple years extensions of the Conditional Use were granted, up until 
October 2016. Since that date the applicants have designed improvements to the 
structure and property to prevent future flood damage. A no rise study has been 
conducted in compliance with Article 3 of the Vestavia Hills Flood Damage 
Prevention Ordinance, and the applicants have obtained a building permit to raise the 
level of the site in a way that makes it productive for the retail sale of automobiles. 
The property is zoned B-3.

VESTAVIA HILLS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: The request is consistent for 
commercial core. 

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 



2

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

MOTION Mr. Gilchrist made a motion to recommend Conditional Use Approval For 
Automotive Sales, Automotive Services-Major And Minor, Including Mechanical And Collision 
Repair for The Property Located At 1476 Montgomery Hwy. Second was by Mr. Weaver.
Motion was carried on a roll call; vote as follows:

Mr. Goodwin – yes Mr. Sykes – yes
Mr. Romeo – yes Mr. Gilchrist – yes
Mr. Weaver– yes Ms. Cobb – yes 
Mr. House – yes Mrs. Barnes – yes
Motion carried.







Ordinance Number 2835 
Page 1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2835 
  

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 
AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 
DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY FROM VESTAVIA HILLS R-
4 TO VESTAVIA HILLS R-9 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Vestavia Hills R-4 (medium 

density residential district) to Vestavia Hills R-9 (planned residential district):  

3984 & 3988 Natchez Drive; Lots 2 & 3, Block 1 Hermitage Forest 1st Sector 
Arthur Powell, Owner 

 
 BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that said zoning is conditioned upon the site plan 

presented. 

 
APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 22nd day of April, 2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2835 
Page 2 

CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2835 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 22nd day of April, 2019, as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New Merkle 
House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of ______________, 
2019. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 

 











Ordinance Number 2836 
Page 1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2836 
  

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 
AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 
DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY FROM VESTAVIA HILLS R-
4 TO VESTAVIA HILLS R-9 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Vestavia Hills R-4 (medium 

density residential district) to Vestavia Hills R-9 (planned residential district):  

3785 Glass Drive; Lot 29, Glass’ 3rd Add to New Merkle 
Tucker & Company, LLC, Owner(s) 

 
 BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that said zoning is conditioned upon the 

following conditions: 

1. Rezoned for detached residential use only; and 
2. Rezoning based upon lot layout and setbacks as presented; and  
3. Rezoning based on covenants as presented. 

 
 

APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 22nd day of April, 2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2836 
Page 2 

 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2836 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 22nd day of April, 2019, as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New Merkle 
House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of ______________, 
2019. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 

 









Upon recording return this instrument to:

Overton Investments, LLC
3505 River Bend Road
Birmingham, Alabama 35216

This instrument was prepared by:

Michael M. Partain, Esq.
Attorney at Law
Michael M. Partain, LLC
The Kress Building
301 Nineteenth Street, Suite 501
Birmingham, Alabama 35203

DECLARATION OF COVENANTS
FOR

PRIVATE SANITARY SEWER PIPE LINE CORRIDOR

THIS DECLARATION, made this ________ day of ______________________________,
2019, by Overton Investments, LLC, an Alabama limited liability company, hereinafter referred to as 
the “Declarant”.

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, the Declarant is the owner of Lot 8-A and Lot 29-A, according to the Resurvey of 
Lot 8 and Lot 29 of _____________, as recorded in Map Book ____, Page ____, in the Probate Office of 
Jefferson County, Alabama, said Lots being situated in the City of Vestavia Hills; and

WHEREAS, the Declarant has re-subdivided said Lot 8 and Lot 29 to reconfigure Lot 8 and Lot 
29 so as to make Lot 29 a “flag lot” (designated as “Lot 29-A”) in order to accommodate the installation 
of a private sanitary sewer lateral pipeline to serve Lot 29-A that shall connect to the boundary of the 
public right-of-way for Poe Drive as depicted on the map attached hereto as EXHIBIT A and made a part 
hereof; and

WHEREAS, Lot 8 was reconfigured as “Lot 8-A” as shown on EXHIBIT A; and

WHEREAS, as a condition of the re-subdivision of Lot 8 and Lot 29, the Declarant agreed that 
the Lot 29-A Owners and their heirs, successors, and assigns shall have the perpetual and non-exclusive 
right to install, operate, maintain, and replace a sanitary sewer lateral pipe line to serve Lot 29-A.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Declarant hereby declares that Lot 29-A and Lot 8-A shall be held, 
sold, and conveyed subject to the following terms and conditions, which shall attach to and run with the 
land as to the Lots, and shall inure to the benefit of and be binding on all parties having any right, title, or 
interest in any of the Lots and their respective heirs, successors, and assigns.

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

1.1 Declarant.  The term “Declarant” shall mean and refer to Overton Investments, LLC, an 
Alabama limited liability company, its successors and assigns.

1.2 Owner or Owners.  The term “Owner” or “Owners” shall mean and refer to the record owner, 
whether one or more persons or entities (including the Declarant), its heirs, successors, and assigns, of a 



2

fee simple title to any of the Lots, but excluding those parties having such interest merely as security for 
the payment of an obligation.

1.3 Lot or Lots.  The term “Lot” or “Lots” shall mean and refer to the real property more particularly 
described on EXHIBIT B attached hereto and made a part hereof.

1.4 Pipe Line. The term “Pipe Line” shall mean and refer to the private sanitary sewer lateral pipe 
line to be installed, operated, maintained, and replaced on the Pipe Line Corridor.

1.5 Pipe Line Corridor. The term “Pipe Line Corridor” shall mean and refer to the ten (10) feet 
wide strip of land along the Northern boundary of Lot 8-A as depicted on EXHIBIT A.

ARTICLE II

PERMITTED USES AND RESTRICTIONS

2.1 Use of the Pipe Line Corridor. The Declarant hereby covenants and agrees that the Lot 29-A
Owners shall have the perpetual and non-exclusive right to use the Pipe Line Corridor for the installation, 
operation, maintenance, and replacement of the Pipe Line to serve Lot 29-A, including the right of access 
thereto. The right to use the Pipe Line Corridor shall run with the land for the benefit of the Lot 29-A
Owners and the heirs, successors, and assigns of such Owners. As a condition of this use, the Pipe Line
shall be installed, operated, maintained, and replaced to serve Lot 29-A exclusively and shall not be 
utilized in any way to serve any other Lot or other real property.

2.2 Improvements on the Pipe Line Corridor. The Declarants hereby covenants and agrees that 
the Pipe Line Corridor is restricted for the use set forth in Section 2.1 and that no above-ground 
improvements of any nature shall be constructed on the Pipe Line Corridor by the Lot 29-A Owners for 
any purpose whatsoever. The Declarant hereby covenants and agrees that the Lot 8-A Owners shall have 
the right to install fencing and landscaping improvements on the Pipe Line Corridor subject to the 
conditions and restrictions set forth in this Article II. No masonry walls of any kind may be installed on 
the Pipe Line Corridor. The Declarant hereby covenants and agrees that any and all fencing and 
landscaping improvements that may be installed on the Pipe Line Corridor by the Lot 8-A Owners shall 
not cause any damage to the Pipe Line nor unreasonably interfere with the installation, operation, 
maintenance, and replacement of the Pipe Line.

ARTICLE III

OBLIGATIONS

4.1 Installation and Maintenance of Pipe Line. The Declarant shall, at its expense, install the Pipe 
Line underground within the Pipe Line Corridor at a depth to be determined by the Declarant’s engineers.
Thereafter, the Lot 29-A Owners shall be solely responsible for the cost of maintaining and replacing the 
Pipe Line, except in the case of any damages to the Pipe Line caused by the negligence or willful acts of 
the Lot 8-A Owners.

4.2 Damages Caused by Lot 29-A Owners.  The Lot 29-A Owners shall be liable for any damages 
to any property or bodily injury, including death, suffered or incurred by the Lot 8-A Owners as a result 
of the use of the Pipe Line Corridor by the Lot 29-A Owners and its agents and contractors, including the 
cost of reasonable attorney fees and other legal expenses incurred by the Lot 8-A Owners.



3

4.3 Damages Caused by Lot 8-A Owners.  The Lot 8-A Owners shall be liable for any damages to 
any property or bodily injury, including death, suffered or incurred by the Lot 29-A Owners as a result of 
the Lot 8-A Owners’ use of the Pipe Line Corridor by the Lot 8-A Owners and its agents and contractors,
including the cost of reasonable attorney fees and other legal expenses incurred by the Lot 29-A Owners.

4.4 Maintenance Requirements.  The Pipe Line and the Pipe Line Corridor shall be maintained in 
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The Lot 29-A Owners shall promptly restore the 
surface of the Pipe Line Corridor in good, neat, and orderly condition at their expense after the 
completion of any maintenance or replacement of the Pipe Line.

4.5 Notice to Lot 8-A Owners. The Lot 29-A Owners shall give written notice to the Lot 8-A
Owners at least 48 hours prior to performing any routine maintenance or replacement of the Pipe Line.
However, in the event of an emergency concerning the Pipe Line the Lot 29-A Owners shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the Lot 8-A Owners prior to conducting any activities on the Pipe Line 
Corridor.

4.6 Subordination of the Lien of Mortgagees. The sale or transfer of any Lot pursuant to mortgage 
foreclosure or any proceeding in lieu thereof shall extinguish any judgment lien recorded in connection 
with the enforcement of the obligations set forth in this Article prior to such sale or transfer.

ARTICLE IV

GENERAL

5.1 Grantee's Acceptance.  The grantee of any Lot subject to the coverage of this Declaration, by 
acceptance of the deed or other instrument conveying an interest in or title to, or the execution of a 
contract for the purchase thereof, whether from the Declarant or subsequent Owners of such Lot, shall 
accept such deed or other contract upon and subject to each and all of the provisions of this Declaration 
herein contained.

5.2 Severability.  Every one of the provisions and restrictions contained in this Declaration is hereby 
declared to be independent of, and severable from, the rest of the provisions and restrictions and of and 
from every combination of the provisions and restrictions in this Declaration.  Invalidation by any court 
of any provision or restriction in this Declaration shall in no way affect any of the other provisions or 
restrictions, which shall remain in full force and effect.

5.3 No Waiver.  The failure of any party entitled to enforce any provision of this Declaration shall in 
no event be considered a waiver of the right to do so thereafter, as to the same violation or breach or as to 
such a violation or breach occurring prior or subsequent thereto.

5.4 Governing Law.  This Declaration shall be governed by the laws of the State of Alabama.

5.5 Waiver of Right to Trial by Jury.  The Declarant and the Owners hereby waives the right to a 
trial by jury in the event that any litigation of any claims arising out of this Declaration.

5.6 Successors and Assigns.  This Declaration shall inure to the benefit of respective heirs, 
successors, and assigns of the Declarant and the Owners.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank.  See following page for signatures.)



4

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Declarant has caused this Declaration to be executed by its duly 
authorized officer or representative on this ________ day of ______________________________ 2019.

DECLARANT:

Overton Investments, LLC

By:

Name: Charles G. Kessler, Jr.

Its: Manager

STATE OF ALABAMA )
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )

I, the undersigned, a Notary public in and for said County, in said State, hereby certify that 
Charles G. Kessler, Jr., whose name as Manager of Overton Investment, LLC, an Alabama limited 
liability company, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the contents of the said 
instrument, he executed the same voluntarily for and as the act of said limited liability company.

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL OF OFFICE this ____ day of ___________________,
2019.

[NOTARY SEAL] Notary Public
My Commission Expires:







Ordinance Number 2837 
Page 1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2837 
  

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 
AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 
DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY FROM VESTAVIA HILLS R-
4 TO VESTAVIA HILLS R-9 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Vestavia Hills R-4 (medium 

density residential district) to Vestavia Hills R-9 (planned residential district):  

3784 Poe Drive 
Lot 8, Block 3, Glass’ 3rd Add to New Merkle 

Jonathan B. Culver, Owner(s) 
 
 BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that said zoning is conditioned upon the 

following conditions:   

1. Rezoning is for detached residential use only; and 
2. Rezoning based upon lot layout and setbacks as presented; and 
3. Rezoning based upon private restrictive covenants as presented. 

 
APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 22nd day of April, 2019. 

 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2837 
Page 2 

 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2837 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 22nd day of April, 2019, as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New Merkle 
House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of ______________, 
2019. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 

 









Upon recording return this instrument to:

Overton Investments, LLC
3505 River Bend Road
Birmingham, Alabama 35216

This instrument was prepared by:

Michael M. Partain, Esq.
Attorney at Law
Michael M. Partain, LLC
The Kress Building
301 Nineteenth Street, Suite 501
Birmingham, Alabama 35203

DECLARATION OF COVENANTS
FOR

PRIVATE SANITARY SEWER PIPE LINE CORRIDOR

THIS DECLARATION, made this ________ day of ______________________________,
2019, by Overton Investments, LLC, an Alabama limited liability company, hereinafter referred to as 
the “Declarant”.

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, the Declarant is the owner of Lot 8-A and Lot 29-A, according to the Resurvey of 
Lot 8 and Lot 29 of _____________, as recorded in Map Book ____, Page ____, in the Probate Office of 
Jefferson County, Alabama, said Lots being situated in the City of Vestavia Hills; and

WHEREAS, the Declarant has re-subdivided said Lot 8 and Lot 29 to reconfigure Lot 8 and Lot 
29 so as to make Lot 29 a “flag lot” (designated as “Lot 29-A”) in order to accommodate the installation 
of a private sanitary sewer lateral pipeline to serve Lot 29-A that shall connect to the boundary of the 
public right-of-way for Poe Drive as depicted on the map attached hereto as EXHIBIT A and made a part 
hereof; and

WHEREAS, Lot 8 was reconfigured as “Lot 8-A” as shown on EXHIBIT A; and

WHEREAS, as a condition of the re-subdivision of Lot 8 and Lot 29, the Declarant agreed that 
the Lot 29-A Owners and their heirs, successors, and assigns shall have the perpetual and non-exclusive 
right to install, operate, maintain, and replace a sanitary sewer lateral pipe line to serve Lot 29-A.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Declarant hereby declares that Lot 29-A and Lot 8-A shall be held, 
sold, and conveyed subject to the following terms and conditions, which shall attach to and run with the 
land as to the Lots, and shall inure to the benefit of and be binding on all parties having any right, title, or 
interest in any of the Lots and their respective heirs, successors, and assigns.

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

1.1 Declarant.  The term “Declarant” shall mean and refer to Overton Investments, LLC, an 
Alabama limited liability company, its successors and assigns.

1.2 Owner or Owners.  The term “Owner” or “Owners” shall mean and refer to the record owner, 
whether one or more persons or entities (including the Declarant), its heirs, successors, and assigns, of a 



2

fee simple title to any of the Lots, but excluding those parties having such interest merely as security for 
the payment of an obligation.

1.3 Lot or Lots.  The term “Lot” or “Lots” shall mean and refer to the real property more particularly 
described on EXHIBIT B attached hereto and made a part hereof.

1.4 Pipe Line. The term “Pipe Line” shall mean and refer to the private sanitary sewer lateral pipe 
line to be installed, operated, maintained, and replaced on the Pipe Line Corridor.

1.5 Pipe Line Corridor. The term “Pipe Line Corridor” shall mean and refer to the ten (10) feet 
wide strip of land along the Northern boundary of Lot 8-A as depicted on EXHIBIT A.

ARTICLE II

PERMITTED USES AND RESTRICTIONS

2.1 Use of the Pipe Line Corridor. The Declarant hereby covenants and agrees that the Lot 29-A
Owners shall have the perpetual and non-exclusive right to use the Pipe Line Corridor for the installation, 
operation, maintenance, and replacement of the Pipe Line to serve Lot 29-A, including the right of access 
thereto. The right to use the Pipe Line Corridor shall run with the land for the benefit of the Lot 29-A
Owners and the heirs, successors, and assigns of such Owners. As a condition of this use, the Pipe Line
shall be installed, operated, maintained, and replaced to serve Lot 29-A exclusively and shall not be 
utilized in any way to serve any other Lot or other real property.

2.2 Improvements on the Pipe Line Corridor. The Declarants hereby covenants and agrees that 
the Pipe Line Corridor is restricted for the use set forth in Section 2.1 and that no above-ground 
improvements of any nature shall be constructed on the Pipe Line Corridor by the Lot 29-A Owners for 
any purpose whatsoever. The Declarant hereby covenants and agrees that the Lot 8-A Owners shall have 
the right to install fencing and landscaping improvements on the Pipe Line Corridor subject to the 
conditions and restrictions set forth in this Article II. No masonry walls of any kind may be installed on 
the Pipe Line Corridor. The Declarant hereby covenants and agrees that any and all fencing and 
landscaping improvements that may be installed on the Pipe Line Corridor by the Lot 8-A Owners shall 
not cause any damage to the Pipe Line nor unreasonably interfere with the installation, operation, 
maintenance, and replacement of the Pipe Line.

ARTICLE III

OBLIGATIONS

4.1 Installation and Maintenance of Pipe Line. The Declarant shall, at its expense, install the Pipe 
Line underground within the Pipe Line Corridor at a depth to be determined by the Declarant’s engineers.
Thereafter, the Lot 29-A Owners shall be solely responsible for the cost of maintaining and replacing the 
Pipe Line, except in the case of any damages to the Pipe Line caused by the negligence or willful acts of 
the Lot 8-A Owners.

4.2 Damages Caused by Lot 29-A Owners.  The Lot 29-A Owners shall be liable for any damages 
to any property or bodily injury, including death, suffered or incurred by the Lot 8-A Owners as a result 
of the use of the Pipe Line Corridor by the Lot 29-A Owners and its agents and contractors, including the 
cost of reasonable attorney fees and other legal expenses incurred by the Lot 8-A Owners.



3

4.3 Damages Caused by Lot 8-A Owners.  The Lot 8-A Owners shall be liable for any damages to 
any property or bodily injury, including death, suffered or incurred by the Lot 29-A Owners as a result of 
the Lot 8-A Owners’ use of the Pipe Line Corridor by the Lot 8-A Owners and its agents and contractors,
including the cost of reasonable attorney fees and other legal expenses incurred by the Lot 29-A Owners.

4.4 Maintenance Requirements.  The Pipe Line and the Pipe Line Corridor shall be maintained in 
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The Lot 29-A Owners shall promptly restore the 
surface of the Pipe Line Corridor in good, neat, and orderly condition at their expense after the 
completion of any maintenance or replacement of the Pipe Line.

4.5 Notice to Lot 8-A Owners. The Lot 29-A Owners shall give written notice to the Lot 8-A
Owners at least 48 hours prior to performing any routine maintenance or replacement of the Pipe Line.
However, in the event of an emergency concerning the Pipe Line the Lot 29-A Owners shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the Lot 8-A Owners prior to conducting any activities on the Pipe Line 
Corridor.

4.6 Subordination of the Lien of Mortgagees. The sale or transfer of any Lot pursuant to mortgage 
foreclosure or any proceeding in lieu thereof shall extinguish any judgment lien recorded in connection 
with the enforcement of the obligations set forth in this Article prior to such sale or transfer.

ARTICLE IV

GENERAL

5.1 Grantee's Acceptance.  The grantee of any Lot subject to the coverage of this Declaration, by 
acceptance of the deed or other instrument conveying an interest in or title to, or the execution of a 
contract for the purchase thereof, whether from the Declarant or subsequent Owners of such Lot, shall 
accept such deed or other contract upon and subject to each and all of the provisions of this Declaration 
herein contained.

5.2 Severability.  Every one of the provisions and restrictions contained in this Declaration is hereby 
declared to be independent of, and severable from, the rest of the provisions and restrictions and of and 
from every combination of the provisions and restrictions in this Declaration.  Invalidation by any court 
of any provision or restriction in this Declaration shall in no way affect any of the other provisions or 
restrictions, which shall remain in full force and effect.

5.3 No Waiver.  The failure of any party entitled to enforce any provision of this Declaration shall in 
no event be considered a waiver of the right to do so thereafter, as to the same violation or breach or as to 
such a violation or breach occurring prior or subsequent thereto.

5.4 Governing Law.  This Declaration shall be governed by the laws of the State of Alabama.

5.5 Waiver of Right to Trial by Jury.  The Declarant and the Owners hereby waives the right to a 
trial by jury in the event that any litigation of any claims arising out of this Declaration.

5.6 Successors and Assigns.  This Declaration shall inure to the benefit of respective heirs, 
successors, and assigns of the Declarant and the Owners.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank.  See following page for signatures.)



4

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Declarant has caused this Declaration to be executed by its duly 
authorized officer or representative on this ________ day of ______________________________ 2019.

DECLARANT:

Overton Investments, LLC

By:

Name: Charles G. Kessler, Jr.

Its: Manager

STATE OF ALABAMA )
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )

I, the undersigned, a Notary public in and for said County, in said State, hereby certify that 
Charles G. Kessler, Jr., whose name as Manager of Overton Investment, LLC, an Alabama limited 
liability company, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the contents of the said 
instrument, he executed the same voluntarily for and as the act of said limited liability company.

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL OF OFFICE this ____ day of ___________________,
2019.

[NOTARY SEAL] Notary Public
My Commission Expires:







Ordinance Number 2840
Page 1

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2841 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 5 OF ORDINANCE 
NUMBER 2427 AND SECTION 10-14(e), VESTAVIA HILLS CODE 
OF ORDINANCES, REP. 2013 ENTITLED ‘EDUCATIONAL 
PROGRAMS”  

 
THIS ORDINANCE NUMBER 2841 is approved and adopted by the City 

Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama on this the 22nd day of April, 2019. 

 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, on April 22, 2019, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted and approved Ordinance Number 2427 to establish and create the 

Alcohol Abuse Education Program and the Traffic Safety Education Program for the 

Municipal Court of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council feel it is in the best public interest to 

amend Section 5 of said Ordinance Number 2427 to reallocate the distribution of funds 

derived from said program. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, SECTION 5 OF 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2427 AND SECTION 10-14(e), VESTAVIA HILLS CODE 

OF ORDINANCES REP. 2013 ENTITLED “EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS” ARE 

AMENDED IN ITS ENTIRETY AS FOLLOWS: 

“(e)  All monies collected as a result of the operation of the Alcohol Abuse Education 

Program and the Traffic Safety Education Program in the form of registration fees, 

evaluation fees and/or tuition fees shall be maintained in a separate account with the City 

Finance Department to be distributed as follows: 

(a) to fully cover the cost of services provided by the previously 

mentioned education programs; 

(b) an amount equivalent to Forty Dollars and Fifty Cents 

($40.50) per individual participant to the City’s “Court and Correction 

Fund”; and 

(c) an amount equivalent to Ten Dollars ($10.00) per applicant 

to the “Municipal Court Judicial Administrative Fund”; and 

(d) an amount equivalent to Thirty Seven Dollars ($37.00) per 



Ordinance Number 2840
Page 2

 

applicant along with all rescheduling fees shall be applied to the “Court 

Technology Fund”; and 

(e) all remaining monies to be used for the purpose of providing 

various other traffic safety education and awareness programs to the 

Vestavia Hills community through the Traffic Safety Office of the Vestavia 

Hills Police Department or any other police activities including training of 

officers. The collection and use of these monies shall be under the 

supervision of the Police Chief and Finance Director.” 

Effective Date: This ordinance shall become effective upon its approval, adoption, 

enactment and publication by posting as set forth in Title 11-45-8(b), Code of Alabama, 

1975. 

Severability: If any part, section or subdivision of this ordinance shall be held 

unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to invalidate 

or impair the remainder of this ordinance which shall continue in full force and effect 

notwithstanding such holding. 

DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 22nd day of April, 

2019.    

 

 

Ashley C. Curry  

Mayor 

ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 

Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2840
Page 3

 

 
 

 
CERTIFICATION: 

 
 

I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance //// is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 22nd day of April, 2019 as same appears in the official records of said City. 

 
Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills New Merkle House, 

Vestavia Hills Civic Center and Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest this the  day 
of  , 2019. 

 
 

Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 

 



Ordinance Number 2842 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2842 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO ALTER, REARRANGE, AND EXTEND THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA, SO AS TO EMBRACE AND INCLUDE WITHIN THE 
CORPORATE AREA OF SAID CITY ALL TERRITORY NOW 
WITHIN SUCH CORPORATE LIMITS AND ALSO CERTAIN 
OTHER TERRITORY CONTIGUOUS TO SAID CITY. 

 
  WHEREAS, certain petitions signed by various owners dated November 

19, 2018, that the property therein described be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, together with a map of said territory showing its relationship to the corporate 

limits of the City, has been filed with the City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills; and 

  WHEREAS, this Council has determined and found that the matters set 

forth and alleged in said petition are true and correct, and that it is in the public interest that 

said territory be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills; 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

  SECTION 1.  That said Council hereby assents to the annexation of said 

territory to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, the corporate limits of the City to be 

extended and rearranged pursuant to the provisions of Title 11, Chapter 42, Article 2, Code 

of Alabama, 1975 (Sections 11-42-20 through 11-42-23, as amended) so as to embrace and 

include said territory, in addition to the territory already within its present corporate limits.  

The new boundary line does not lie at any point more than half the distance between the 

old city boundary and the corporate boundary of any other municipality.  Said territory is 

described as follows: 

 
1. 2400 Magnolia Cove Road; Lot 1, Magnolia Cove Estates; Chase Beard, Owner 
2. 2404 Magnolia Cove Road; Lot 2, Magnolia Cove Estates; Randel Walker, 

Owner 
3. 2408 Magnolia Cove Road; Lot 3, Magnolia Cove Estates; David and Jenice 

Adcock 
4. 2412 Magnolia Cove Road; Lot 4, Magnolia Cove Estates; Frank and Phyllis 

Hamrick, Owners 
5. 2416 Magnolia Cove Road; Lot 5, Magnolia Cove Estates; Kay Watkins, 

Owner 
6. 2420 Magnolia Cove Road; Lot 6, Magnolia Cove Estates; Chase Beard, Owner 
7. 2424 Magnolia Cove Road; Lot 7, Magnolia Cove Estates; Chase Beard, Owner 



Ordinance Number 2842 
Page 2 

 

8. 2423 Magnolia Cove Road; Lot 8, Magnolia Cove Estates; Chase Beard, Owner 
9. 2419 Magnolia Cove Road; Lot 9, Magnolia Cove Estates; Martin Cogen, 

Owner 
10. 2415 Magnolia Cove Road; Lot 10, Magnolia Cove Estates; John and Lynda 

Gay, Owners 
11. 2409 Magnolia Cove Road; Lot 11, Magnolia Cove Estates; David and Tammy 

Doward, Owners 
12. 2405 Magnolia Cove Road; Lot 12, Magnolia Cove Estates; Thomas and Jane 

Walker, Owners 
13. 2401 Magnolia Cove Road; Lot 13, Magnolia Cove Estates; Chase Beard, 

Owner 
 

  SECTION 2.  That the City Clerk shall file a certified copy of this Ordinance 

containing an accurate description of said annexed territory with the Probate Judge of 

Jefferson County, Alabama, and also cause a copy of this Ordinance to be published/posted 

in accordance with Alabama law. 

  APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 22nd day of April, 2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 



Ordinance Number 2842 
Page 3 

 

 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance 2842 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 22nd day of April, 2019, as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ 
day of ______________, 2019. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2842 
Page 4 

 

 



Magnolia Cove Subdivision



Magnolia Cove Subdivision















































































Resolution Number 5152 

Page 1 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5152 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPOINTING A MEMBER OF THE 

VESTAVIA HILLS BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR A 
TERM OF FIVE YEARS  

 
WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS: 

 
 WHEREAS, Section 11-16-3, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that the City 

Council shall appoint members of the City Board of Education to serve for a term of five 

(5) years; and  

 WHEREAS, the five-year term of Jerry Dent as a member of the Vestavia Hills 

Board of Education expires at 6:00 PM on June 19, 2019 and 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 1.  The City Council does hereby elect and appoint ______________________as a 

member of the Vestavia Hills Board of Education for a term of five (5) years, beginning 

with the first regularly scheduled meeting of the Vestavia Hills Board of Education in June 

at 6:00 p.m. and ending at 6:00 p.m. on the date of the first regularly scheduled meeting of 

the Board in June of the year 2024; and 

 2.  This Resolution shall become effective upon the approval and adoption by the 

City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 RESOLVED, DONE, ORDERED, APPROVED and ADOPTED, on this the 

22nd day of April, 2019. 

 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry  
      Mayor 
 



Resolution Number 5152 

Page 2 

 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 



 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5153 
 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING ALCOHOL LICENSE 

FOR TAZ BHAM LLC D/B/A TAZIKIS 
MEDITERRANEAN CAFE; JOHN MICHAEL 
BODNAR, JAMES MATTHEW BODNAR, GERALD 
EDISON RUSHTON, JR, EXECUTIVES 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, approves the 

alcohol license for Taz Bham LLC d/b/a Tazikis Mediterranean Cafe, located at 1425 

Montgomery Highway, Suite 199, Vestavia Hills, Alabama, for the sale of 040 - Retail 

Beer (on or off premises) and 060 Retail Table Wine (on or off premises); John Michael 

Bodnar, James Matthew Bodnar, Gerald Edison Rushton, Jr, executives. 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 22nd day of April, 2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 



Resolution No. 5153



Resolution No. 5153



Resolution No. 5153



Resolution No. 5153



Resolution No. 5153



Resolution Number 5154 
Page 1 of 2 

 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5154 
 

A RESOLUTION IN OPPOSITION TO PROPOSED LEGISLATION 
BEFORE THE ALABAMA LEGISLATURE, SENATE BILL 264 

 
WHEREAS, Senate Bill 264 (“SB264”) is currently pending before the Alabama Legislature; and,  

WHEREAS, this proposed legislation will grant wireless service and infrastructure providers, as a 

matter of right, the ability install small cell facilities and equipment in the public rights-of-way and on 

municipal utility, light, and traffic poles, as well as other municipal infrastructure and buildings; 

WHEREAS, the granting of this right to wireless service and infrastructure providers will be at the 

expense of the safe and efficient use of local government streets, rights-of-way, and infrastructure and is 

fundamentally unfair to local taxpayers; and 

WHEREAS, if enacted, SB264 will preempt the ability of local governments to adopt their own 

ordinances to regulate wireless service and infrastructure providers within their boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed legislation also imposes certain wireless standards on local governments 

above and beyond what the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) requires in application review, 

processing, and permit issuance standards; and  

WHEREAS, SB264 further absolves wireless providers of any obligation to consider alternative 

adjacent private property sites, even in underground districts and historic districts; and  

WHEREAS, the proposed legislation deems any wireless provider’s application, including batch 

applications, granted if a local government does not act within the deadlines set forth in SB264; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed legislation prohibits a local government from denying a proposed 

wireless installation, even if the installation would interfere with the safe operation of traffic control 

equipment and/or vehicular or pedestrian sight lines or clear zones, unless the proposed installation can be 

shown to “materially” interfere with such safety requirements; and 

WHEREAS, SB264 further allows unreasonable types and height extensions of poles without 

giving local governments the proper authority to restrict such types and heights; and 

WHEREAS, this proposed legislation would allow utility poles in the right-of-way to be as high 

as 50 feet from grade or 10 percent taller than any existing pole within 500 feet; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed legislation also prohibits local governments from charging in excess of 

$100 per pole, per year, for the placement of new wireless infrastructure poles in local government rights-

of-way; 

WHEREAS, the restriction on pole charges as set forth in SB264 is arbitrary and places a potential 

below-cost cap on what local governments could charge for wireless providers’ private commercial use of 

a local government’s valuable public assets; 



Resolution Number 5154 
Page 2 of 2 

 
 

WHEREAS, working with the wireless industry, the City of Vestavia Hills (“City”) has created a 

standard through a local ordinance that creates a level playing field for competition, a common sense 

approach to aesthetics and permitting, a streamlined and simple application process, and reasonable fees 

demonstrably based on cost recovery; and   

WHEREAS, Senate Bill 264 would effectively eliminate successful local ordinances, such as the 

City’s ordinance, with a one-size-fits-all approach; and 

WHEREAS, SB264 is likely to result in a proliferation of aesthetically objectionable utility poles 

in the City of Vestavia Hills and in other local government owned rights-of-way and on municipal 

infrastructures.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, does hereby voice its formal objection 

to SB264. SB264 does not strike an appropriate balance between the need for deployment of 

wireless broadband infrastructure and the need for local governments to manage their own 

rights-of-way and municipal infrastructures. 

2. SB264 unduly benefits the wireless industry at the expense of local governments and their 

residents and infringes upon the City’s ability to manage its rights-of-way and municipal 

infrastructures at the local governance level. 

3. The City hereby requests that SB264 be restructured and rewritten to provide greater deference 

to local governments and their ability to control their public rights-of-way and infrastructures. 

4. Upon execution, a copy of this Resolution shall be sent to each representative and senator 

representing the City of Vestavia Hills. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 22nd day of April, 2019. 

 
 
 
       
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Resolution Number 5155  
Page 1 

  
RESOLUTION NUMBER 5155 

 
A RESOLUTION CHANGING THE CITY OFFICIALS 
DESIGNATED AND AUTHORIZED TO SIGN CHECKS AND 
DRAFTS FOR PAYMENTS FROM CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
ACCOUNTS ON DEPOSIT IN THE REGIONS BANK. 

 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the Regions Bank be, and hereby is, designated as the depository of the 

City of Vestavia Hills Court Bond Account, and that the officers and employees of said 

City named herein below are hereby authorized to endorse, in the name of the City, for the 

purpose of deposit and collection, in and with said bank, checks, drafts, notes and other 

like obligations issued and drawn to and owned by said City; and it is further resolved that 

endorsement for deposit and collection may be by the written or stamped endorsement of 

the City without designation of the party making the endorsement. 

 2.  That said bank be, and hereby is, authorized to pay out the funds of this 

corporation on deposit with it from time to time upon said depository and signed in the 

name of this corporation by any one (1) of the following, whether said checks are payable 

to cash, bearer, or the order of the corporation, or to any third party, or to the order of any 

signing or countersigning officer of the corporation or any other corporation officer, in 

either their individual or official capacity, without further inquiry or regard to the authority 

of said officer(s) and/or other person(s) or the use of said checks, drafts, and orders or the 

proceeds thereof;  

 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Jeffrey Downes 
City Manager 
 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Ashley C. Curry 
Mayor 



Resolution Number 5155  
Page 2 

  
 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Melvin Turner, III 
Finance Director/City Treasurer 
 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Tamara Davis 
Magistrate 
 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Shellie Mckown 
Magistrate 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Julie Tucker 
Magistrate 
 
 
 3.  That the said bank shall not be, in any manner whatsoever, responsible for or 

required to see the application of any of the funds of this corporation deposited with it, 

checked out, or borrowed from it, or secured by the discount of notes and other obligations 

to it as hereinbefore provided, and all such transactions shall be conclusively presumed to 

be legally binding upon this corporation. 

 4.  That Rebecca Leavings, the City Clerk of this municipality, shall file with the 

said bank a certified copy of this resolution under the corporate seal of this corporation and 

shall also file with the said bank a certified list of the persons at the present time holding 

offices of City Manager, Mayor, City Clerk and City Treasurer in this corporation, and it 



Resolution Number 5155  
Page 3 

  
shall be conclusively and presumed that the persons so certified as holding such offices 

continue respectively to hold the same until the said bank is otherwise notified in writing 

by the City of Vestavia Hills by duly authorized Resolution. 

 5.  Any and all resolutions heretofore approved and adopted by the City Council of 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama in conflict with this Resolution Number 5155 are 

hereby rescinded. 

 6.  That this resolution shall be in full force and effect and binding upon this 

municipality as of April 23, 2019 and shall remain in full force and effect until it shall have 

been rescinded and written notice of such recession under the corporate seal have been 

delivered to said bank. 

 ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 22nd day of April, 2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolution Number 5155  
Page 4 

  
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
I the undersigned qualified Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, do hereby certify 
that the above and foregoing is a true copy of a Resolution lawfully passed and adopted by 
the City Council of the City named therein, at a regular meeting of such Council held on 
the 22nd day of April, 2019, and that such Resolution is of record in the Minute Book of 
the City at page __ thereof. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the official seal of the 
City on this ___________ day of ____________________, 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
       Rebecca Leavings 
       City Clerk 
SEAL 



Resolution Number 5156 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5156 
 

A RESOLUTION RENAMING A STREET 
 
 WHEREAS, following a public hearing on April 22, 2019, the City Council voted to annex 

the Magnolia Cove Estates Subdivision into the City of Vestavia Hills; and 

 WHEREAS, the Magnolia Cove Estates Subdivision was recorded in the Office of the 

Probate Judge of Jefferson County with a street name of “Magnolia Cove;” 

WHEREAS, the street recorded as Magnolia Cove has also been referred to as “Magnolia 

Cove Road;” and 

 WHEREAS, Jefferson County erected a street sign located at the entrance says “Magnolia 

Cove Road;” and 

 WHEREAS, E-9-1-1 requires that signage and street names coincide to allow 

enhancement of emergency services throughout the City; and 

 WHEREAS, a polling of the residents of that street reportedly use the street name 

“Magnolia Cove Road” and prefer that the name of the street remain as such; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and the City Council feel is in the best interest of the public to 

rename and clarify that the street name is “Magnolia Cove Road” and allow the City adopted 

signage reflecting the correct name of the street and notify all government agencies of the same. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The street known as “Magnolia Cove Road” and/or “Magnolia Cove” is hereby named as 

“Magnolia Cove Road.” 

2. The City Manager is hereby authorized to notify all agencies of said name of street and 

erect City adopted signage to reflect said name; and 

3. This Resolution Number 5156 is effective immediately upon adoption and approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 22nd day of April, 2019. 

 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
 
 
 



Resolution Number 5156 
Page 2 

 

 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 





Ordinance Number 2844 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2844 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND ORDINANCE 2766 PROVIDING 

FOR LEVYING OF MUNICIPAL TAXES FOR THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AND FOR ASSESSMENT AND 
COLLECTION THEREOF. 

 
WITNESSETH THESE HISTORICAL RECITALS: 

 
 WHEREAS, prior to November 15, 1982, the ad valorem tax rate of each One 

Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of assessed value of property in the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Jefferson County, Alabama, amounted to Eight and 21/100 Dollars ($8.21), which 

consisted of the following amounts: 

1. State of Alabama:  Sixty-five cents on each One  $ 0.65 
 Hundred dollars  ($100.00) of assessed value of 
 such property. 
 
2. Jefferson County:  One and  35/100  Dollars on   1.35 
 each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of  the  
 assessed value of such property. 
 
3. Jefferson County Schools:   Eighty-two    cents   0.82 
 on  each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of 
 the assessed value of such property. 
 
4. Special School District Tax:   Ninety-six  cents   0.96 
 on  each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of 
 the assessed value of such property. 
 
5. Special District Tax:  Fifty-five  cents  on  each   0.55 
 One   Hundred   Dollars    ($100.00)    of    the 
 assessed value of such property. 
 
6. Local General  Municipal  and  Special  Municipal   3.88 
 School  Taxes:   Three   and   88/100 
 Dollars    on   each    One   Hundred   Dollars 
 ($100.00)   of   the   assessed   value  of  such  ___________ 
 property. 
   TOTAL $ 8.21 
and; 



Ordinance Number 2844 
Page 2 

 

 WHEREAS, prior to November 15, 1982, the aggregate locally approved millage 

for general municipal purposes and local school taxes of 38.8 mills (being at the rate of 

$3.88 per $100.00 of assessed value) consisted of the following: 

  General Municipal Purposes  10.275 
  Garbage Collection   10.275 
  West Elementary - Warrants    3.150 
  High School and Operations  15.100 
 
     TOTAL 38.800  and; 
 
 WHEREAS, all real property in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, has been 

reappraised; and 

 WHEREAS, the Tax Assessor of Jefferson County in 1982 certified to the City of 

Vestavia Hills that total assessed value increased from $42,983,320.00 in 1981 to 

$63,427,627.00 in 1982; and 

 WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, pursuant to the authority granted 

by Constitutional Amendment Number 373 (Lid Bill) of the Constitution of Alabama 1901, 

adopted Ordinance Number 633 on November 15, 1982, which reduced the ad valorem tax 

rate by 7.8 mills ($0.78 per $100.00 of assessed value).  Following the enactment of 

Ordinance Number 633, the total millage rate consisted of the following separate taxes: 

1. State of Alabama:  Sixty-five cents on  each One  $ 0.65 
 Hundred dollars  ($100.00) of assessed value of 
 such property. 
 
2. Jefferson County:  One and  35/100  Dollars on   1.35 
 each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of  the  
 assessed value of such property. 
 
3. Jefferson County Schools:   Eighty-two    cents   0.82 
 on  each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of 
 the assess value of such property. 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2844 
Page 3 

 

4. Special School District Tax:   Ninety-six  cents   0.96 
 on  each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of 
 the assessed value of such property. 
 
5. Special District Tax:  Fifty-five  cents  on  each   0.55 
 One   Hundred   Dollars    ($100.00)    of    the 
 assessed value of such property. 
 
6. Local General  Municipal  and  Special  Municipal   3.10 
 School Taxes:   Three   and   10/100 
 Dollars    on   each    One   Hundred   Dollars 
 ($100.00)   of   the   assessed   value  of  such  ___________ 
 property. 
   TOTAL $ 7.43 
 
After the adoption of Ordinance Number 633, the aggregate locally approved millage for 

general municipal purposes and local school district taxes of 31.0 mills (being at the rate 

of $3.10 per $100.00 of assessed value) consisted of the following: 

  General Municipal Purposes  0.821 
  Garbage Collection   0.821 
  West Elementary - Warrants  0.252 
  High School and Operations  1.206 
 
     TOTAL 3.100  and; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Vestavia Hills Board of Education unanimously adopted a 

resolution requesting that the ad valorem tax millage for education purposes be returned to 

the pre-November 15, 1982, rates by reinstating the 3.7 mills (.37 per $100.00 of assessed 

value) as follows: 

 West Elementary Warrants from   2.52 to   3.15 
 High School & Operations from 12.06 to 15.10; and 
 
 WHEREAS, said resolution was presented to the City Council on February 4, 

1985; and 



Ordinance Number 2844 
Page 4 

 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on February 11, 1985, on the issue of 

whether or not to reinstate the 3.7 mills for the benefit of the Vestavia Hills Board of 

Education; and 

 WHEREAS, the Vestavia Hills Board of Education has requested the City Council 

to return the ad valorem millage tax rates that affect the Vestavia Hills School System to 

those rates in force and effective immediately prior to the adoption of Ordinance Number 

633 on November 15, 1982, by reinstating Thirty-Seven Cents ($0.37) on each One 

Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of the assessed value of property so that the rates when adjusted 

will be as follows: 

1. The 12.06 High School mills ($1.206 on each $100.00 of assessed value) be 
adjusted to 15.1 mills ($1.51 on each $100.00 of assessed value). 

 
2. The 2.52 West Elementary mills ($0.252 on each $100.00 of assessed value) be 

adjusted to 3.15 mills ($0.315 on each $100.00 of assessed value); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, agreed to 

approve the request of the Board of Education by reinstating the 3.7 mills ($0.37 per 

$100.00 of assessed value).  The City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

approved and adopted Ordinance Number 744 on February 18, 1985, which said Ordinance 

provided, among other things, as follows: 

1. Reinstatement of 3.7 mills (0.37 on each One Hundred dollars of assessed value). 
 
2. Established that the aggregate local millage for general municipal purposes and 

local school district tax rates are Three and 47/100 Dollars ($3.47) per One Hundred 
Dollars ($100.00) of the assessed value of said property. 

 
3. That the $3.47 local millage consists of the following: 
  (a) General Municipal Purposes  0.823 
  (b) Garbage Collection   0.823 
  (c) West Elementary - Warrants  0.315 
  (d) High School and Operations  1.510 
      TOTAL 3.470   and; 



Ordinance Number 2844 
Page 5 

 

 
4. The total ad valorem tax rate of each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of assessed 

value of property in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, shall amount to Seven and 
80/100 Dollars ($7.80) and shall consist of the following: 

 
  State of Alabama   $ 0.65 
  Jefferson County    1.35 
  Jefferson County Schools   0.82 
  Special School District Tax   0.96 
  Special School District Tax   0.55 
  General Municipal Purpose Tax  1.96 
  Special Municipal School Tax  1.51 
 
     TOTAL $ 7.80 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills subsequently desired 

to return the millage tax rates that affect the General Fund to those rates in force and 

effective immediately prior to the adoption of Ordinance Number 633 on November 15, 

1982, by reinstating (4.1 mills) forty-one cents on each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of 

the assessed value of property so that the rates when adjusted will be as follows: 

1. The 8.23 General Fund Mills (0.823 on each $100.00 of assessed value) be adjusted 
to 10.275 mills (1.0275 on each $100.00 of assessed value). 

 
2. The 8.23 Garbage Collection Fund Mills (0.823 on each $100.00 of assessed value) 

be adjusted to 10.275 mills (1.0275 on each $100.00 of assessed value). 
 
 The total ad valorem tax rate of each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of assessed 

value property in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, shall amount to Eight Dollars and 

21 Cents ($8.21) and shall consist of the following: 

1. State of Alabama:  Sixty-five cents on  each One  $ 0.65 
 Hundred dollars  ($100.00) of assessed value of such property. 
 
2. Jefferson County:  One and  35/100  Dollars on   1.35 
 each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of  the  
 assessed value of such property. 
 
3. Jefferson County Schools:   Eighty-two    cents   0.82 
 on  each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of 



Ordinance Number 2844 
Page 6 

 

 the assess value of such property. 
 
4. Special School District Tax:   Ninety-six  cents   0.96 
 on  each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of 
 the assessed value of such property. 
 
5. Special District Tax:  Fifty-five  cents  on  each   0.55 
 One   Hundred   Dollars    ($100.00)    of    the 
 assessed value of such property. 
 
6. Local General  Municipal  and  Special  Municipal   3.88 
 School  Taxes:   Three   and   88/100 
 Dollars    on   each    One   Hundred   Dollars 
 ($100.00)   of   the   assessed   value  of  such  ___________ 
 property. 
   TOTAL $ 8.21 
 
 WHEREAS, on May 4, 1987, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, approved and adopted Ordinance Number 901, which established the ad valorem 

tax rate of Eight and 21/100 Dollars ($8.21) per One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of assessed 

value as shown in the schedule immediately above; and 

 WHEREAS, a referendum was held in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on 

Tuesday, May 8, 1990, at which election the qualified electors of the city voted on the 

following issue: 

TEN AND ONE-HALF MILL TAX INCREASE 
IN VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, 
FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL PURPOSES 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 
 Shall the ad valorem tax presently being levied in the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, pursuant to provisions of the Constitution and the laws of the 
State of Alabama, including the election held in the City on April 28, 1970, 
at the rate of One Dollar and Fifty-one Cents on each One Hundred Dollars 
worth of taxable property in the City be increased to the rate of Two Dollars 
and Fifty-six Cents on each One Hundred Dollars worth of taxable property 
in the City (an increase of One Dollar and Five Cents on each One Hundred 
Dollars worth of taxable property, or ten and one-half mills); such additional 
ten and one-half mill tax to be levied and collected for each year beginning 
with the levy for the tax year October 1, 1989, to September, 1990 (the tax 



Ordinance Number 2844 
Page 7 

 

for which year will be due and payable October 1, 1990) and ending with 
the levy for the tax October 1, 2016, to September 30, 2017 (the tax for 
which year will be due and payable October 1, 2017) and to be used by the 
City Board of Education of the City of Vestavia Hills for public schools 
purposes? 

 
  _____________ For Proposed Taxation 
 
  _____________ Against Proposed Taxation 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

 The majority of the qualified electors voted “For Proposed Taxation”.  The 
specific totals were: 

 
For Proposed Taxation 3,097 
Against Proposed Taxation 3,065 

 
 Following the referendum vote on May 8, 1990, the aggregate ad valorem tax rate 

on each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of assessed value of property in the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, amounted to Nine and 26/100 Dollars ($9.26) 

and consisted of the following millages: 

1.  State of Alabama   $ 0.650 
2.  Jefferson County    1.350 
3.  Jefferson County Schools   0.820 
4.  Special School District Tax   0.960 
5.  Special School District Tax   0.550 
6.  Local General Municipal Purpose Tax 2.055 
7.  Special Municipal School Tax  2.560 
8.  West Elementary    0.315 
 
     TOTAL $ 9.260 
 
 On August 27, 1991, the voters of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, elected to 

renew the 8.2 mill Jefferson County School ad valorem tax. 

 On April 28, 1992, the voters of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, elected to 

renew the 5.5 mill Special School District ad valorem tax. 



Ordinance Number 2844 
Page 8 

 

 On May 3, 1993, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, approved 

and adopted Ordinance Number 1353, levying ad valorem taxes at the rate of $9.26 per 

$100.00 of assessed value on real and personal property located within the City for the 

period beginning October 1, 1993, and ending September 30, 1994. 

 On October 26, 1993, the voters of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, voted in 

favor of a 9.6 mill increase of the 5.5 mill ad valorem tax (under Section 2 of Amendment 

3, sometimes referred to as Amendment Number 3, Three Mill District Tax) to 15.1 mills. 

 Because of the 9.6 mill increase of the 5.5 mill ad valorem tax to 15.1 mills, the 9.6 

mill ad valorem tax authorized by Amendment Number 82 of the Constitution of the State 

of Alabama was not renewed. 

 On March 11, 2014, the voters of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, voted in 

favor of renewing the levy of the said 10.5 mill tax commencing with the tax year for which 

taxes will become due and payable on October 1, 2018 and for each consecutive tax year 

thereafter without limit as to time. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 SECTION ONE - TAX LEVY:   Taxes are hereby levied for the City tax year 

commencing on the first (1st) day of October 2019, on all real and personal property and 

other properties and franchises in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, subject to taxation 

by the laws of the State of Alabama, based on the valuation of said property as assessed for 

County taxation, as shown by the books of assessment for the State and County tax year 

ending on the 30th day of September, 2020, as follows: 

A. A tax for general municipal purposes of Two and 37/100 Dollars ($2.37) on each 
One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of the assessed value of such property. 



Ordinance Number 2844 
Page 9 

 

 
B. A tax for public school purposes of Two and 56/100 Dollars ($2.56) on each One 

Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of the assessed value of such property. 
 
C. In summary, the aggregate local millage for general municipal purposes and local 

school district tax rates are Four and 93/100 Dollars ($4.93) per One Hundred 
Dollars ($100.00) of the assessed value of such property. 

 
D. The local millage, for City accounting purposes, shall be allocated as follows: 
 
  General Municipal Purposes   1.0275 
  Garbage Collection    1.0275 
  West Elementary - Warrants     .3150 
  High School and Board Operations  2.5600 
 
      TOTAL 4.9300 
 
 SECTION TWO - SPECIAL DISTRICT TAXES:  In addition to the taxes levied 

in SECTION ONE above, taxes are hereby levied for the City tax year commencing on the 

1st day of October, 2019, on all real and personal property and other properties and 

franchises in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, subject to taxation by the laws of the 

State of Alabama, based on the valuation of said property as assessed for County taxation, 

as shown by the books of assessment for the State and County tax year ending on the 30th 

day of September, 2020, as follows: 

A. A further tax of One Dollar and Fifty-one Cents ($1.51) of each One Hundred 
Dollars ($100.00) of the assessed value of such property, in addition to the above 
mentioned taxes to be applied exclusively to public school purposes pursuant to the 
authority conferred by the Constitution and the election held on February 11, 1969; 
renewed on April 28, 1992, and increased to 15.1 mills on October 26, 1993. 

 
B. A further tax of Eighty-two Cents ($0.82) of each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) 

of the assessed value of such property, to be used solely and only for public school 
purposes pursuant to the Constitution of the State of Alabama. 

 
 Should the City Council of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, have no legal authority to 

provide for the levy, assessment and collection of the said Special School District Taxes as 



Ordinance Number 2844 
Page 10 

 

described in this SECTION TWO, then in such event, this SECTION TWO shall be 

considered as the City’s support of the Vestavia Hills Board of Education. 

 SECTION THREE - TAX BASIS AND WHEN DUE:  On and after the 1st day 

of October, 2019, all municipal taxes due the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, shall be 

based and due on all County assessments of the property within the limits of said County 

for the preceding year, and shall be due and delinquent at the time when State and County 

taxes for the preceding year are due and delinquent. 

 SECTION FOUR - EFFECTIVE DATE AND LIEN:  The levy of taxes made 

herein shall go into force and effect as of October 1, 2019, and shall on said date become 

a lien on the property subject thereto. 

 SECTION FIVE - TAX ASSESSOR AND TAX COLLECTOR, AND THEIR 

COMPENSATION:  The Tax Assessor and Tax Collector of Jefferson County, Alabama, 

shall be considered to be the Tax Assessor and Tax Collector respectively for the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and shall each receive as compensation for this service in 

assessing and collecting respectively the taxes herein levied, as fee equivalent to one-half 

of one per centum (1/2 of 1%) of the taxes collected and then remitted to the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 SECTION SIX - CONFLICTS:  That all Ordinances, or parts of Ordinances, 

including Ordinance Number 2844, heretofore, adopted by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, in conflict with the provisions hereof are hereby expressly 

repealed. 



Ordinance Number 2844 
Page 11 

 

 SECTION SEVEN - SEVERABILITY:  The provisions of this Ordinance are 

hereby declared severable.  Should any provision of this Ordinance be held invalid, the 

invalidity thereof shall not affect the remaining provisions of this Ordinance. 

 SECTION EIGHT - INTENT:  It is the intent of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, with the passage of this Ordinance Number 2844, that the aggregate local millage 

for general municipal purposes and local school district tax rates be Four and 93/100 

Dollars ($4.93) per One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of the assessed value of such property 

and consist of the following: 

 Special High School Tax and Operations  $ 2.560 
 General Municipal Including Garbage   2.055 
 West Elementary        .315 
 
      TOTAL $ 4.930 
 
 It is the further intent that the aggregate ad valorem tax rate of each One Hundred 

Dollars ($100.00) of assessed value of property in the City of Vestavia Hills, Jefferson 

County, Alabama, shall amount to Nine and 26/100 Dollars ($9.26), which shall consist of 

the following millages: 

1.  State of Alabama   $ 0.650 
2.  Jefferson County    1.350 
3.  Jefferson County Schools   0.820 
4.  Special School District Tax   1.510 
5.  Local General Municipal Purpose Tax 2.055 
6.  Special Municipal School Tax  2.560 
7.  West Elementary    0.315 
 
     TOTAL $ 9.260 
 
 SECTION NINE - TAX ABATEMENT:  Whereas, the City of Vestavia Hills has 

annexed no parcels of land with tax abatements. 

 



Ordinance Number 2844 
Page 12 

 

 SECTION 10 - EFFECTIVE DATE:  This Ordinance shall become effective 

immediately upon its adoption and approval and is adopted and approved all in accordance 

with Title 11-51-40, et seq., Code of Alabama, 1975. 

 ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 22nd day of April, 2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2844 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 22nd day of April, 2019, as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ 
day of ______________, 2019. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 



Ordinance Number 2845 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2845 
 
 AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR LEVYING OF 

MUNICIPAL TAXES FOR THE CITY OF VESTAVIA 
HILLS, ALABAMA, AND FOR ASSESSMENT AND 
COLLECTION THEREOF IN SHELBY COUNTY. 

 
  NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City 

of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

  SECTION ONE - TAX LEVY:  Taxes are levied for the City tax year 

commencing on the first (1st) day of October, 2019, on all real and personal property and 

other properties and franchises in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, subject to taxation 

by the laws of the State of Alabama, based on the valuation of said property as assessed for 

State taxation as shown by the books of assessment for the State and County tax year ending 

during the preceding year, as follows: 

A. A tax for general municipal purposes of Two and 37/100 Dollars ($2.37) on each 

One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of value of such property; 

B. A tax for Public School purposes of Two and 56/100 Dollars ($2.56) on each One 

Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of value of such property; 

C. In summary, the aggregate local millage for general Municipal purposes and 

Municipal School tax rates are Four and 93/100 Dollars ($4.93) per One Hundred 

($100.00) of the value of such property; 

D. The local millage for the City’s accounting purposes shall be allocated as follows: 

   General Municipal Purposes   1.0275 
   Garbage Collection    1.0275 
   West Elementary Warrants   0.3150 
  High School and Board Operations  2.5600 
 
     Total   4.9300 
 



Ordinance Number 2845 
Page 2 

 

  SECTION TWO - SHELBY TAX LEVY:  Taxes are hereby levied by 

the Shelby County Commission §40-7-42, Code of Alabama, 1975 for the City tax year 

commencing on the first day of October, 2019, on all real and personal property and other 

properties and franchises in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, subject to taxation by the 

laws of the State of Alabama, based on the valuation of said property as assessed for County 

taxation, as shown by the books of assessment for the State and County tax year ending on 

the 30th day of September, 2020, as follows: 

A. A tax of Fifty Cents ($0.50) on each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of the value 

of such property for general fund purposes; 

B. A tax of One Dollar and Sixty Cents ($1.60) on each One Hundred Dollars 

($100.00) of the value of such property for school districts; 

C. A tax of Twenty-five Cents ($0.25) for each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of the 

value of such property for roads and bridges; 

D. In summary, the aggregate County millage for general purposes, countywide school 

taxes, and road and bridges is Two and 35/100 Dollars ($2.35) per One Hundred 

Dollars ($100.00) of the value of such property. 

  It is the further intent that the aggregate ad valorem tax rate of each One 

Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of assessed value of property in the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Shelby County, Alabama, should amount to Seven and 93/100 Dollars ($7.93) which shall 

consist of the following millages: 

  State of Alabama    0.650 
  Shelby County     0.500 
  Shelby County School Countywide  1.600 
  Shelby County Road and Bridge  0.250 
  General Municipal Purpose Tax  2.055 
  Special Municipal School Tax  2.560 



Ordinance Number 2845 
Page 3 

 

  West Elementary Warrants   0.315 
 
      Total  7.930 
 

 SECTION THREE - TAX BASIS AND WHEN DUE:  On and after the 1st day 

of October, 2019, all municipal taxes due the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, shall be 

based and due on all County assessments of the property within the limits of said County 

for the preceding year, and shall be due and delinquent at the time when State and County 

taxes for the preceding year are due and delinquent. 

 SECTION FOUR - EFFECTIVE DATE AND LIEN:  The levy of taxes made 

herein shall go into force and effect as of October 1, 2019, and shall on said date become 

a lien on the property subject thereto. 

 SECTION FIVE - TAX ASSESSOR AND TAX COLLECTOR, AND THEIR 

COMPENSATION:  The Tax Assessor and Tax Collector of Shelby County, Alabama, 

shall be considered to be the Tax Assessor and Tax Collector respectively for the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and shall each receive as compensation for this service in 

assessing and collecting respectively the taxes herein levied, as fee equivalent to one-half 

of one per centum (1/2 of 1%) of the taxes collected and then remitted to the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 SECTION SIX - CONFLICTS:  That all Ordinances, or parts of Ordinances, 

including Ordinance Number 2845, heretofore, adopted by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, in conflict with the provisions hereof are hereby expressly 

repealed. 

 



Ordinance Number 2845 
Page 4 

 

  SEVERABILITY:  The provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared 

severable.  Should any provision of this Ordinance be held invalid, the invalidity thereof 

shall not affect the remaining provisions of this Ordinance. 

  EFFECTIVE DATE:  This Ordinance shall become effective immediately 

upon its adoption and approval. 

  ADOPTED AND APPROVED this the 22nd day of April, 2019. 

 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca H. Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 
hereby certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2845 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 22nd day of April, 2019, as same appears in the official records of 
said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, and 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ 
day of ______________, 2019. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings  
      City Clerk 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2846 
Page 1 of 6 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2846 
 

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING VOTING AND POLLING 
PLACES FOR ALL MUNICIPAL ELECTIONS FOR THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA. 

 
 THIS ORDINANCE NUMBER 2886 IS APPROVED AND ADOPTED ON 

THIS THE 13th DAY OF May, 2019. 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS: 

 WHEREAS, Alabama law at Title 11-46-21, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides 

that the regular municipal elections in cities and towns in Alabama shall be held on the 

fourth Tuesday in August 1984, and quadrennially thereafter and, when necessary as 

provided in subsection (d) of Title 11-46-55, a second or runoff election shall be held on 

the first Tuesday of October following said regular election; and 

 WHEREAS, Alabama law at Title 11-46-24, Code of Alabama, 1975, requires the 

municipal governing body designates voting places for municipal elections; and 

 WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama adopted Ordinance Number 152 

on June 3, 1968 to establish voting and polling sites at the following locations:  (1) Vestavia 

Hills City Hall at 513 Montgomery Highway and (2) Vestavia Hills Shopping Center at 

700 Montgomery Highway; and  

WHEREAS, Ordinance Number 1818 adopted on June 5, 2000 established the 

voting and polling sites in the City of Vestavia Hills for municipal elections at the following 

locations:  (1) Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, at 513 Montgomery Highway and (2) 

Vestavia Hills Civic Center, at 1973 Merryvale Road, relocating the second polling site 

because of the closure and renovation of the Vestavia Hills Shopping Center; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama adopted Ordinance Number 1849 

on November 6, 2000 for the addition of a voting and polling site at the Liberty Park Fire 

Station located at 13041 Liberty Parkway in the Liberty Park community of Vestavia Hills; 

and 

WHEREAS, in 2001, the Jefferson County Board of Registrars relocated the 

voting and polling site at the Vestavia Hills Municipal Center to the Vestavia Hills United 

Methodist Church at 2061 Kentucky Avenue at the request of the City of Vestavia Hills 



Ordinance Number 2846 
Page 2 of 6 

 

due to problems in parking facilities.  This location is used for all Federal, County and State 

elections; and 

WHEREAS, in 2002, the Jefferson County Board of Registrars established a 

voting and polling site at the Liberty Park Baptist Church located at 12001 Liberty Parkway 

in the Liberty Park community of Vestavia Hills for use in all Federal, County and State 

elections; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills experienced extensive growth in an easterly 

direction through annexation of many unincorporated portions of Jefferson County 

between Vestavia Hills proper and the Vestavia Hills Liberty Park community; and 

WHEREAS, on the 6th day of October, 2003, the Mayor and City Council adopted 

and approved Ordinance Number 2370 to relocate existing polling and voting sites as well 

as locating additional polling and voting sites within the corporate limits to better serve the 

voting public with more convenient access to polling and voting locations within the City 

and established six (6) voting and polling places for all municipal elections at the following 

locations: (1) the Vestavia Hills United Methodist Church, 2061 Kentucky Avenue; (2) the 

Vestavia Hills Civic Center, 1973 Merryvale Road; (3) the Liberty Park Baptist Church, 

12001 Liberty Parkway; (4) the MountainTop Community Church, 225 Centerview Drive; 

(5) the Town Village Vestavia Hills, 2385 Dolly Ridge Road; and (6) the Cahaba Heights 

Community and Senior Citizens Center, 4401 Dolly Ridge Road.  All of these locations 

were also regular polling and voting sites utilized by the Jefferson County Board of 

Registrars for all Federal, County and State elections and are within corporate limits of 

City of Vestavia Hills; and 

WHEREAS, development occurred within the site of the Vestavia Hills Civic 

Center in which traffic flow became extremely congested with the carpool traffic of two 

schools, activities from the Senior Citizens Community Room as well as the location of 

the Vestavia Hills Chamber of Commerce.  Following repeated complaints from citizens 

on polling days, it was found that traffic flow was virtually impassable at certain times 

which tended to disenfranchise voters at that location; and 

WHEREAS, at the request of the Mayor of the City of Vestavia Hills, the Jefferson 

County Board of Registrars investigated and has determined it is in the best public interest 

to relocate its polling location from the Vestavia Hills Civic Center at 1973 Merryvale 



Ordinance Number 2846 
Page 3 of 6 

 

Road, Vestavia Hills, Alabama to a new polling location at Vestavia Alliance Church at 

1380 Montgomery Highway for all Federal, State and County elections; a change which 

was submitted to the U.S. Department of Justice by letter dated February 8, 2011 from 

Barry Stephenson, Chairman, Jefferson County Board of Registrars and was subsequently 

precleared; and 

 WHEREAS, on July 25, 2011, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills 

adopted and approved Ordinance Number 2370 to relocate the municipal polling location 

from Vestavia Hills Civic Center at 1973 Merryvale Road, Vestavia Hills, Alabama to a 

new polling location at Vestavia Alliance Church at 1380 Montgomery Highway for all 

municipal elections.  This new polling location was subsequently precleared by the U. S. 

Department of Justice by letter dated November 7, 2011; and 

 WHEREAS, on March 13, 2012, primary elections for Federal, State and County 

offices were held and the new polling location at the Vestavia Alliance Church (now named 

Birmingham International Church) at 1380 Montgomery Highway proved to be an 

extremely bad location for polling.  Numerous complaints by voters were received by the 

Jefferson County Registrar as well as Mayor Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr., citing confusing 

parking, dismal lighting within the facilities and inaccessibility onto Montgomery 

Highway. 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama has 

determined that it is in the best public interest to again relocate the third precinct polling 

location from the Vestavia Alliance Church (now called Birmingham International 

Church), 1380 Montgomery Highway, Vestavia Hills, Alabama to a new polling location 

at Horizon Church, 2345 Columbiana Road, Vestavia Hills, Alabama for all municipal 

elections.  The new polling location will allow controlled access to Columbiana Road as 

well as ample space and parking to accommodate all voters at this location; and 

 WHEREAS, on April 9, 2012, the City Council adopted and approved Ordinance 

Number 2396 to move the polling location to Horizon Church, 2345 Columbiana Road; 

and 

 WHEREAS, continued growth and construction at the Vestavia Hills Cahaba 

Heights Elementary School, traffic concerns and reconstruction of the Cahaba Heights 

Sports Complex has warranted a change in the Cahaba Heights Community and Senior 



Ordinance Number 2846 
Page 4 of 6 

 

Citizens Center located at 4401 Dolly Ridge Road voting location.  In February 2019, 

Jefferson County Board of Registrars moved the County polling location to Cahaba 

Heights Baptist Church, 3800 Crosshaven Road, Vestavia Hills, Alabama; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council feel it is in the best interest of the public 

to mirror the County’s actions and move the City’s polling place from the Cahaba Heights 

Community and Senior Citizens Center located at 4401 Dolly Ridge Road to the Cahaba 

Heights Baptist Church, 3800 Crosshaven Road, Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS:  

1. The six (6) voting and polling places for all municipal elections for the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, shall be at the following sites: 

A. Liberty Park Baptist Church:  One voting and polling place for municipal 

elections in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama shall be at the Liberty Park 

Baptist Church in the Liberty Park community located at 12001 Liberty 

Parkway, Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  All qualified electors who regularly 

vote in the Precincts and Box Numbers 48-06 (Brookwood Baptist Church), 

48-07 (Liberty Park Baptist Church), and 48-08 (Overton Road United 

Methodist Church) shall vote at the Liberty Park Baptist Church.   

B. Vestavia Hills United Methodist Church:  One voting and polling place for 

municipal elections in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama shall be at the 

Vestavia Hills United Methodist Church located at 2061 Kentucky Avenue, 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  All qualified electors who regularly vote at the 

Precinct and Box Number 47-08 (Vestavia Hills United Methodist Church) 

shall vote at the Vestavia Hills United Methodist Church. 

C. Horizon Church:  One voting and polling place for municipal elections in 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama shall be at the Horizon Church located 

at 2345 Columbiana Road, Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  All qualified electors 

who regularly vote at Precinct and Box Numbers 47-05 (Horizon Church) 

and 46-06 (Homewood Public Library) shall vote at the Horizon Church. 

D. MountainTop Community Church:  One voting and polling place for 

municipal elections in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama shall be at the 



Ordinance Number 2846 
Page 5 of 6 

 

MountainTop Community Church located at 255 Centerview Drive, 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  All qualified electors who regularly vote at 

Precinct and Box Numbers 47-04 (Saint Mark United Methodist Church) 

and 47-06 (MountainTop Community Church) shall vote at the 

MountainTop Community Church. 

E. Town Village Vestavia Hills:  One voting and polling place for municipal 

elections in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama shall be at the Town Village 

Vestavia Hills located at 2385 Dolly Ridge Road, Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  

All qualified electors who regularly vote at Precinct and Box Numbers 47-

07 (Town Village Vestavia Hills) and 48-02 (Mountain Chapel United 

Methodist Church) or at any Shelby County polling location shall vote at 

the Town Village Vestavia Hills. 

F. Cahaba Heights Baptist Church:  One voting and polling place for 

municipal elections in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama shall be at the 

Cahaba Heights Baptist Church located at 3800 Crosshaven Drive, Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama.  All qualified electors who regularly vote at Precinct and 

Box Numbers 48-03 (St. Thomas Episcopal Church), 48-04 (Fire Station #2 

Mountain Brook) and 48-05 (Cahaba Heights Baptist Church) shall vote at 

the Cahaba Heights Baptist Church. 

2. Any and all ordinances or resolutions in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby 

repealed. 

3. If any part, section or subdivision of this Ordinance shall be held 

unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be construed 

to invalidate or impair the remainder of this Ordinance which shall continue in 

full force and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

4. This Ordinance shall become effective upon approval and adoption in its 

publication and/or posting as required by Alabama law. 

 

 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2846 
Page 6 of 6 

 

 DONE, ORDERED, APPROVED and ADOPTED, on this the 13th day of May, 

2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance #2846 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 13th day of May, 2019 as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ 
day of ______________, 2019. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 


	2019_0422CC_A
	Proclamation National Get on Board day
	2019_0408CC_M
	Ordinance 2840
	Ordinance 2838
	Ordinance 2839
	Ordinance 2835
	Ordinance 2836
	Ordinance 2837
	Ordinance 2841
	Ordinance 2842
	Resolution 5152
	Resolution 5153
	Resolution 5154
	Resolution 5155
	Resolution 5156
	Ordinance 2844
	Ordinance 2845
	Ordinance 2846



